



All Theses and Dissertations

2015-06-01

What's Good About Failing Schools?

Maika Malualelagi Tuala Brigham Young University - Provo

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd



Part of the Sociology Commons

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Tuala, Maika Malualelagi, "What's Good About Failing Schools?" (2015). All Theses and Dissertations. 5594. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/5594

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen amatangelo@byu.edu.

What's Good About Failing Schools?

Maika Malualelagi Tuala

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Mikaela J. Dufur, Chair Curtis D. Child Kristie Jan Rowley Phillips

Department of Sociology

Brigham Young University

June 2015

Copyright © 2015 Maika Malualelagi Tuala

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

What's Good About Failing Schools?

Maika Malualelagi Tuala Department of Sociology, BYU Master of Science

Education policies tend to target failing schools that are often located in disadvantaged communities. However, the use of high-stakes testing to identify and punish failing schools has become increasingly controversial. An overemphasis on test scores to determine school quality has led to unintended consequences and overshadows other valuable school-based resources that parents feel meaningfully contribute to students' academic experiences. To better understand how low-SES parents describe their children's low performing schools, I interviewed 92 families in an under-served community. Through these interviews I illuminate the school-based resources that contribute to school quality. In fact, these additional elements were often more important signifiers of school quality for low-SES parents than were test scores.

Keywords: school quality, school effectiveness, high-stakes testing, education policy, education

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my appreciation first to my wife EmyRose Kata Tuala, kinisou chapur ngokun ren mettoch meinisin pwe ka fori ren ngang, ai tong ngonuk ennet seni ikenie tori feinfeino chok. Like we say in Sapuk, I love you but I'm broke. I would also like to thank all of the members of my thesis committee. Thank you, Mikaela, for guiding me through the thesis process and for encouraging me to move forward. I don't think I could have done this without you. Kristie Phillips, thank you for your support and for your insight that has helped me better understand the literature. Thank you, Curtis Child, for helping me learn how to do qualitative work. I hope to follow each of your examples in becoming a mentor to others. Last of all I thank all of those parents who participated in this study. I hope that I have been able to share your voices and opinions with others.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	vi
Introduction	1
Literature Review	1
Education Policies Target Failing Schools in an Attempt to Improve Them	1
Using Test Scores to Identify Failing Schools is Problematic	3
Is Student Achievement a Valid Indicator of School Quality?	4
Unintended Consequences of Overemphasis on Test Scores	7
Other Valuable School Characteristics Contribute To Academic Experiences	10
School Characteristics that Low-SES Parents Value	12
Contribution/Significance of Study	16
Context	17
Data and Methods	19
Sample	19
Interview Procedure	21
Field Notes	22
Results and Discussion	22
Are Failing Schools Actually Good Schools?	22
Structural Reinforcements that Enhanced Learning Opportunities	25 29 35
Father Knows Best: Are Parents Making Accurate Assessments of What a Good School	

Reasons Parents Problematize Test Scores	. 47
Conclusion	. 52
References	. 56
Tables	. 70
Appendix A	. 72

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: School Characteristics	. 70
Table 2: Sample Characteristics	. 71

INTRODUCTION

Education policies tend to target failing schools that are often located in disadvantaged communities; however, the use of high stakes testing to identify and punish failing schools has become increasingly controversial. An overemphasis on test scores to determine school quality has led to unintended consequences and overshadowed other valuable school-based resources that parents feel meaningfully contribute to students' academic experiences. To better understand how low-SES parents describe their children's low performing schools, I interviewed 92 families in an underserved community. Through these interviews I illuminate the school-based resources that contribute to school quality. The resources parents identify are associated with greater learning opportunities for their children, even when these opportunities are not tied to higher average standardized test scores. In fact, these additional elements are often more important signifiers of academic quality for low-SES parents than are test scores. Therefore, the guiding question of our study is asking how parents in low-SES communities describe their failing schools.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Education Policies Target Failing Schools in an Attempt to Improve Them

Most education policies and reform movements focus on "failing" schools, with definitions of failing generally centered on student scores on standardized tests. Policies aimed at improving "failing schools" tend to impose penalties for lack of improvement that range from budget cuts to school closures. Common across most school reform efforts is that they all target failing schools.

For example, the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (ESEA 1965) acknowledged the effects of poverty on student achievement and was designed to make public

school funding more equitable. Thus, the ESEA had a specific function of directing more federal funds to schools in economically disadvantaged communities. However, the publication of "A Nation at Risk" made a public and persuasive argument that American public schools were failing and that corrective action needed to be implemented in educational policy (National Commission on Excellence in Education 1983). This created a general call for accountability and improvement that ultimately led to the upgrade of the ESEA into No Child left Behind Act (NCLB 2001).

The NCLB act, which is essentially an updated version of the ESEA, called for greater accountability from failing schools to improve or else face severe consequences. For instance, if schools failed to meet academic yearly progress (AYP) for more than two years, they were required under the law to give their students the option to transfer out to a higher-performing school. Additionally, failing schools were required to offer free services, such as afterschool programs, to struggling students, often without additional funding. The ultimate consequence for not reaching AYP was school closure or federal government takeover. As a result, an average of about 1,900 schools were closed for inadequate performance on standardized tests each year during the first decade of NCLB (National Center for Education Statistics [NCES] 2015). Thus, NCLB required states to identify failing schools, based mostly on standardized testing, and place them under heavy-handed sanctions. As a consequence, 48 percent of the public schools in the US were labeled as failing schools by 2011 (Usher 2011).

Yet even when NCLB explicitly enabled millions of parents to remove their children from "failing" schools and send them to higher-performing schools, most parents (98 percent in so-called failing schools) did not do so (Rentner et al. 2006). Additionally, in spite of the fact that policies like NCLB provide the government authority to close schools down for poor

performance, the majority of those schools remain open, in large part because parents have kept their children in them. This perplexing phenomenon has lead us to wonder how parents in economically challenged communities, often served by schools defined by laws and policies as "failing," might diverge from traditional, test-based descriptions of school quality. For brevity we will refer to parents in economically disadvantaged situations as people who live in low-SES communities. To understand how parents in economically disadvantaged situations construct descriptions of the schools their children attend that might diverge from traditional or policy-based definitions, we first turn to a discussion of the controversial practice of using test scores to identify their schools as failing institutions.

Using Test Scores to Identify Failing Schools is Problematic

Those who propose using test scores as a means of identifying school quality make two assumptions that build on each other. The first assumption proposes that test scores are objective indicators of learning (Greene, Winters, and Forster 2003) and therefore school quality.

Proponents suggest test score are objective because all those who take the test are exposed to the same questions, and those who answer more questions correctly must have learned more than those who scored lower. Therefore, schools with higher proportions of students passing standardized tests must be higher quality schools because the test scores suggest their students learned more. Under this assumption, standardized tests are especially useful because they allow for a way to compare schools to each other and ultimately lead to greater transparency, forcing schools to be more accountable for their performance. The validity of the second assumption is dependent on the first. This second key assumption is that test scores can be used to make data-driven policy that will lead to desired educational outcomes (Amrien and Berliner 2002; Kornhaber and Orfield 2001). With an accurate indicator of school productivity, those who run

or govern public schools should be able to identify best and worst practices. Therefore, test scores can help decision makers identify good and bad curriculums and teaching practices (Au 2007) as well as to evaluate good and bad teachers (Milanowski, Kimball, and Odden 2005), principals (Heck, Larsen, & Marcoulides, 1990), and schools (Ladd and Walsh 2002). This could then lead to weeding out the bad from the good, including removing poor-performing personnel and schools, thus creating a more efficient and productive educational system. The NCLB act was largely based on the validity of both of these assumptions (NCLB 2001); however, these are both assumptions that have led to much debate and controversy. In the next two sections we review research that questions both of these assumptions beginning with the assumption that student achievement is a valid indicator of student learning and school quality.

Is Student Achievement a Valid Indicator of School Quality?

The main assumption that achievement-based evaluations have made was that average student achievement was a direct measure of school quality. However, this assumption is questionable because student achievement is so closely tied to non-school factors such as student background and prior achievement (Coleman et al., 1966; Fitz-Gibbon, 1996; Sammons, Mortimore, and Thomas 1996; Willms, 1992) and the neighborhoods children come from (Ainsworth 2002; Chase-Lansdale and Gordon 1996; Chase-Lansdale et al. 1997; Duncan, Brooks-Gunn, and Klebanov 1994; Kohen et al. 2002). Therefore, the difference among schools' achievement levels (high vs. low) is largely due to the populations they serve (high SES vs. low SES and minority vs. white) rather than any actions taken by the schools themselves (Coleman et al. 1966; Jencks et al 1972). It seems unreasonable to either praise or punish schools for student achievement that they did not help to create. Yet, education policies that focus heavily on aggregate scores on standardized tests continue to operate under this faulty premise.

Recognizing this disconnect, researchers have attempted to create more valid measures of school quality. One example is a value added approach that measures learning rates (Sanders 1998; Sanders and Horn 1998). Learning rates involve testing students at multiple time points to measure growth in skills and knowledge that takes place across schooling. For example, students might be tested at the end of kindergarten and then retested at the end of first grade. The learning rate is the difference between the two test scores. In our example here, if 30 percent of the kindergarten class passed the first test and then 60 percent of the same class passed the second test, the learning rate at the school would be 30. The learning rate could be compared across schools in the same way aggregate test scores could, but they would allow for the possibility of schools populated by underserved students taking less skilled students and contributing to greater growth for those students, even if those students' overall scores were lower than students from more privileged backgrounds (Downey, von Hippel, and Hughes 2008). Scholars arguing in favor of value added approaches claim that such approaches better measure school-based criteria and better parse out non-school factors (e.g., SES and neighborhoods) that usually effect student achievement (Sanders 1998; Stone 1999).

Learning measures have the benefit of trying to consider things that actually happened in schools instead of skills students brought to school with them. However, research suggests that 12-month learning measures were not completely valid (Downey et al. 2008). This is mostly because learning measures calculated on a yearly basis include the learning gains or losses that occur during summer breaks. Research indicates that students from affluent families have larger learning gains during the summer than low-SES students (Downey, von Hippel, and Broh 2004; Entwisle and Alexander 1992). This means that schools that serve more affluent populations may still show greater learning gains than low-SES schools without actually providing superior

educational opportunities in the schools themselves. Thus, learning measures were still influenced by other non-schooling factors.

Another way researchers have tried to capture school quality was by measuring school impact, or the "difference between the rate at which children learn in school and the rate at which they would learn if they were never enrolled in school" (Downey et al. 2008: 247). These effects are often colloquially referred to as seasonal effects or summer setback, with the idea that students who have more home resources will continue to learn while out of school (often for the summer break), while students with fewer resources may experience skill degeneration when school is not in session. Conceptually, measuring seasonal impacts isolates school effects while accounting for non-school effects.

Downey and colleagues compared these three measures of school quality (student achievement, learning rates, and seasonal impacts) and found that fewer than half the schools that were identified as failing according to traditional aggregated achievement tests would be considered failing when a different measure (e.g., learning rates or seasonal impacts) of school performance was used. More than half of the so-called failing schools actually had higher learning rates, as well as higher seasonal effects, than schools rated as passing by traditional testing methods (Downey et al. 2008). This means that many of the schools that were identified as failing could be argued to have stronger in-school effects on learning than schools with higher overall test scores, leaving the authors to question whether "failing schools [are] really failing" (Downey et al. 2008: 242) and whether aggregate test scores of student achievement are the best measurement of school quality. According to von Hippel (2009), student achievement may be the best measure in terms of reliability, but it is the worst measure in terms of validity. This is a cause for serious concern because it means that under any system that uses student achievement

scores to identify failing schools there may have been many high-impact learning schools that have been mislabeled as failing (Downey et al. 2008). This suggests the need to know more about other school characteristics that signify school quality, especially for the families and students who were most affected by the use of test scores to identify and punish "failing schools". In this next section we review some of the unintended consequences of overemphasizing test scores in high-stakes decisions that disproportionately affect families and students who are served by schools that have been labeled as "failing schools" based on test scores.

Unintended Consequences of Overemphasis on Test Scores

Though research on measures such as learning effects and seasonal effects has called into question whether test scores are appropriate measures of school behaviors and quality, high-stakes testing continues to be used as a primary method of determining so-called failing schools. High-stakes testing links student achievement directly to various important outcomes such as student promotion and graduation, teacher evaluation, and job security for school administration and staff (McNeil 2000; Orfield and Wald 2000). This has resulted in a number of unintended consequences, often to the detriment of school personnel serving low-SES populations or to the students themselves (Jones and Jones 2003; Au 2009).

One example of such negative consequences was that high-stakes testing created narrow curriculums that did not prepare children for the modern workforce. Research documented how the overemphasis on testing has narrowed the curriculums that teachers use to educate children (Abrams, Pedulla, and Madaus 2003; Hill and Lake 2002; Jones and Egley 2004; Pedulla et al. 2003; Rentner et al. 2006; Rosenbusch 2005; Scott 2007; Taylor et al. 2001; von Zastrow 2004). This has led to "teaching to the test," rote memorization, and dull lectures that create teacher-

centered rather than student-centered classrooms (Debray, Parson, and Avila 2003; Clarke et al. 2003; Gayler 2005; Hillocks 2002; McNeil and Valenzuela 2001; Paris and Urdan 200; Pedulla e al. 2003; Sleeter 2005). The problem with this approach to education was that it prepared children to take tests rather than providing them with the skills necessary to become marketable in today's society. Research indicated that today analytical skills such as critical thinking and problem solving were among the most valued skills in the market place (Liu and Grusky 2011). Teaching children to analyze decontextualized multiple choice problems is a lot different from giving them real life situations in which they are to identify the problem, discover possible explanations, and systematically reach an optimal solution, a teaching method based on experiential learning theory that mapped poorly onto typical standardized testing approaches (Kolb, Boyatzis, and Mainemelis 2000). Therefore, schools that focus on enhancing children's analytical skills through experiential learning could be great schools that prepare children for the market; however, standardized tests may not adequately capture such learning and thus drive schools away from such curricular approaches.

The focus on testing also created stress and burnout for teachers. Research documented that high stakes testing demoralized and put undue stress on teachers (Jones and Jones 2003; Nichols and Berliner 2007: Barksdale-Ladd and Thomas 2000). This is important to consider since job satisfaction is tightly connected to increase in productivity (Judge et al. 2001). Thus, if teachers are satisfied with their jobs they should be more likely to produce greater student learning. However, high stakes testing has had adverse effects on teacher satisfaction leading to "increased anxiety, shame, and loss of self-esteem" among teachers, particularly those serving low-achieving student populations (Smith 1991: 8; see also Johnston 1998; Johnston et al. 1995; Johnston, Afflerbach, and Weiss 1993; Smith et al. 1991). Other research finds that low-

achieving schools tend to have lower-quality teachers (Boyd et al. 2005), mostly because higher-quality teachers are more likely to leave lower-achieving schools (Hanushek, Kain, and Rivkin 2002 2004). High-stakes testing, therefore, could have led to teachers' exit from "failing schools," creating a push-pull effect that pushed excellent teachers out of lower-performing schools and pulled them into higher-performing schools, in turn leading to greater educational inequality (Schultz 2014).

High-stakes testing also created biased against poor minorities. Research indicated, for example, that poor minorities were most likely to either dropout or be denied a high school diplomas due to high-stakes testing (Orfield and Wald 2000; Gillborn and Youdell 2000; Madaus and Clarke 2001; McNeil 2005; McNeil and Valenzuela 2001; Nichols, Glass, and Berliner 2005). Some researchers have found that low-SES and minority students were forced to drop out of their schools in order to increase schools' test scores (Nichols and Berliner 2007; Orel 2003). Other studies found that school administrators would strategically exempt low-performing minorities from state tests by placing them in special education programs (Figlio and Getzler 2002; Cullen and Reback 2006) or by suspending probable low scorers to prevent them from taking the test (Figlio 2005). High-stakes testing thus created a more hostile environment for many low-SES minority students where they were no longer viewed as students in need of help but rather as liabilities that could lead to lower teacher evaluations, administrative job demotions, or federal re-structuring.

In sum, high stakes testing reproduced inequality (Au 2008) by creating unintended consequences (e.g., narrow curriculums, teacher burn out, and bias) that systematically targeted the victims (e.g., low-SES minorities) of educational inequities (Orfield and Wald 2000). The public's hyper-vigilance over test scores has led to the overshadowing of other valuable school

characteristics that meaningfully contribute to students' academic experiences and learning opportunities. In the next section, we first review some of the school characteristics that parents in general valued, and then we focus more specifically on what school characteristics low-SES parents valued similarly or differently from their high-SES counterparts.

Other Valuable School Characteristics Contribute to Academic Experiences

Several of the objections to using high-stakes testing as the primary measure of school quality explicitly suggest that alternate characteristics of schools play important roles in students' academic experiences but remain unmeasured—and therefore underappreciated and potentially under-supported—in systems that emphasize test scores. A child's academic experience entails more than the information that they can repeat on a test; additional components might include class size, diversity of student body, relationships with peers and teachers, curricula, teacher qualifications, etc. (Schneider, Tesk, Marshall 2000; Kleitz et al. 2000; Weiherr and Tedin 2002). However, many of these valuable resources have been overshadowed due to policy makers' narrow emphasis on school test scores.

One broad school characteristic that most parents highly value, irrespective of their race or SES, is what they often refer to as academic quality. School choice literature documents that parents tend to identify academic quality as the most important school characteristic when making decisions about schools (Lee et al. 1996; Ball and Vincent 1998; Schneider et al. 1998, 2000; Kleitz et al. 2000; Goldring and Phillips 2008; Smrekar 2009; Stein, Goldring, and Cravens 2011; Tedin 2007). An important distinction was that parents did not refer solely to "test scores" when they discussed academic quality, as many educational policies have assumed, but rather emphasized a broader concept that largely reflected children's learning opportunities.

Yet, it is not clear what parents meant when they talked about academic quality. This confusion was exacerbated because researchers differed in the way they measured academic quality (Stein et al. 2011). For example, one way researchers measured academic quality was by asking parents if academic quality (or a similar phrase) was important to them in forced-choice survey data collection. Weiher and Tedin (2002), for instance, found that over 90 percent of parents indicated that "educational quality" was either "very important" or "important" to them when selecting schools for their children (Wieher and Tedin 2002: 848), but the problem with this measurement was that parents had no opportunity to explain what they meant by educational quality. In these cases, the idea of "educational quality" or "academic quality" was thus too broad of a conceptualization and provided little in the way of direction to people who run or govern schools. Another way researchers have measured academic quality was by creating composite quantitative indicators of academic quality. For instance, in a school choice survey of 748 parents in Nashville, Tennessee, Goldring and Phillips (2008) created a composite measure of academic quality with parental preferences for school test scores, academic reputation, and quality of teachers. While an improvement on the measures described above the problem with this measure of academic quality was that it limited parents' conceptualizations to those three dimensions. Parents may have had other dimensions of academic quality in mind when they thought of good schools. Lee, Croninger, and Smith (1996) found that parents associated "a good academic reputation" with schools that "require[d] students to take a lot of classes in basic subjects" and that "offer[ed] a wide variety of courses" (Lee et al. 1996: 83). This suggests even more factors in how parents conceptualize schools' academic quality. In sum, researchers have varied in their conceptualization of academic quality, ranging from broad labels to more specific measures such as the variety of courses offered by schools. Still, taken as a whole this research

documented how parents valued schools' various internal characteristics that they felt improved children's learning opportunities.

Another school characteristic that parents said they valued was teacher quality (Jacob and Lefgren 2007). While teacher quality may often be used in global labels of academic or educational quality, as above, when given the opportunity parents often made specific reference to teachers' abilities and qualifications. For example, Schneider et al. (2000) surveyed 1,600 parents across four districts in New York and New Jersey and found that a majority of those parents described "teacher quality" to be the most important characteristic of schools. In fact, the percentage of parents who valued teacher quality was more than twice those who valued high test scores. This evidence was further supported by a survey that found that 87 percent of parents wanted more information about the quality of teachers when considering schools (Public Policy Forum 1998). Interestingly, students agreed with parents about the importance of teacher quality for educational opportunities. Vanourek, Manno and Finn (1998: 188) found that most students thought good teachers were important in selecting their schools, defining good teachers are those who "teach it until I learn it" and "don't let me fall behind." In essence both parents and students alike viewed teachers as a key element in students' learning opportunities in schools. Few of the teacher characteristics parents and students list can be determined from standardized test scores, leading to the possibility that resources which people, who actually interacted with schools, valued were not being used in measuring whether those schools were productive or failing. School Characteristics that Low-SES Parents Value

Because low-SES parents seldom remove their children from schools labeled as failing based on test scores (Rentner et al. 2006; Stein et al. 2011; Carnegie Foundation 1992), some policymakers attribute this behavior as being less involved in their children's schools than

affluent parents (Lareau 1987); these assumptions sometimes even extend to proposing that low-SES parents care less about their children's education. Others assumed that low-SES parents lacked the mental capacity to make proper schooling decisions for their children because they were less likely than their affluent counterparts to opt out of failing schools (Fuller and Elmore 1996; Wells 1996; Martinez, Godwin, and Kemerer 1993 1996), to attach significance to test scores (Hastings, Kane, and Staiger 2005), and to accept achievement ideologies that represent white middle class culture (Wells 1996, 1991).

However, contradictory evidence also exists for each of these claims. For example, although low-SES parents were less likely to opt out of failing schools (Fuller and Elmore 1996), they were more likely than their affluent counterparts to favor policies that allowed them to leave their neighborhood schools (Lee et al. 1996). Research also indicated that like their affluent counterparts, low-SES families attached significance to test scores (Jacob and Lefgren 2007) as well as teacher quality (Schneider et al. 2000). For instance, Schneider et al. (1998) surveyed 1,604 parents across four districts in New York and asked them to pick four things from a list of 11 attributes they considered to be important for their child's education. Results found less educated and Black parents were about eight percentage points more likely to say high test scores were an important attribute for schools to have than were white parents. Additionally, Kleitz et al. (2000) surveyed 1,100 parents in Texas who enrolled their children in charter schools and asked them to rate how important educational quality was in their consideration of the school on a four point likert scale ranging from "not important at all" to "very important." Low-SES and minority parents were more likely to say educational quality was important than wealthier and white counterparts.

Teacher quality was another characteristic that both high-SES and low-SES parents valued that is not accurately captured by test scores (Schneider et al. 2000; Phillips 2010). For example, in her seminal work, Lareau (1987) emphasized how both low- and high-SES parents viewed teachers as important resources in creating learning opportunities for their children. However, parents in the different SES categories differed sharply in how they used teachers as resources, with high-SES parents viewing teachers as hired help to assist them in educating their children, while low-SES parents viewed education as the teachers' sole responsibility. The effects this might have on how low-SES parents view school quality are important if they are reluctant to challenge or interact with teachers (Lareau 1987; Jeynes 2005; Fan and Chen 2001).

In addition to evidence that low-SES parents value test scores, broadly-defined academic quality, and teacher quality, other studies found a more expansive set of school characteristics that drive low-SES parents' assessment of their children's learning environments and opportunities. For example, Wells (1996) interviewed African American parents in Saint Louis and found that low-SES families placed high value on racial safety, meaning that they wanted their children in schools with a racial composition similar to their children. These parents described how their children were more willing to attend their local schools each day because they had a sense of belonging and were less distracted by racial issues and better able to concentrate on school. Such concerns are not readily signaled by student achievement scores. Additionally, a study of New Orleans parents' ranked preferences on school applications found that low-SES parents placed a premium on distance between home and school as well as on extended school days (Harris and Larsen 2015). The authors speculated that these preferences reflected practical considerations concerning the inflexibility of parental working hours and the need for children to get to school on time after parents had left for work or be cared for in the

school setting while parents were still at work. Such schools also expose students to more time spent in school learning rather than traveling or being forced to miss school due to transportation and work schedule issues. Again, school test scores cannot measure how these characteristics affect student's learning opportunities.

Additional research has found that low-SES parents rank school safety and disciplinary strategies as especially important (Schneider et al. 1998; Lareau 2011). In fact, surveys suggest that for parents in low-SES communities, these factors were more important than test scores (Lee et al. 1996; Harris and Larsen 2015). It may be possible that parents in troubled, underserved neighborhoods viewed safety and discipline as means to enhancing their children's learning opportunities because safe schools meant fewer worried about attendance and fewer distractions from classroom activities; more affluent parents, by contrast, may be able to make housing choices that ameliorate safety concerns, removing such criteria from their lists of desirable school characteristics (Smrekar 2009). A common factor among these alternative school characteristics valued by low-SES parents is that they lie outside of the sphere that policymakers have traditionally used to define good schools and failing schools. To what extent do test scores reflect these learning opportunities that parents' non-academic preferences may be signaling? Test scores likely do not measure—at least not directly—how safe classrooms are, how disciplined the students are, or how many afterschool programs the schools have, yet each of these characteristics directly or indirectly influences students learning opportunities, and each of these learning opportunities has been identified in survey research as one that low-SES parents tend to value more than test scores (Lee et al., 1996; Harris and Larsen 2015).

In sum, research documents various school characteristics that parents consider valuable to their children's learning opportunities, most of which cannot be captured by test scores.

Understanding how parents make meaning of learning opportunities within their failing schools is important, given that (1) 98 percent of parents who could opt out of failing schools remain (Rentner et al. 2006), (2) those who do opt out of failing school tend to send their children to equal or lower performing schools (Stein et al. 2011; Phillips, Hausman, and Larsen 2011), and (3) research suggests schools that are failing in terms of student achievement may not be failing with respect to other empirical measures (Downey et al. 2008). Knowing how low-SES parents assess what high-quality schools are, could illuminate our understanding of how to better judge effective schools in meaningful ways that could overcome some of the negative consequences on children's learning experiences that have been caused by overemphasizing student achievement measures.

Contribution/Significance of Study

One of the holes in existing research on parental conceptualizations of school quality, especially among low-SES parents, is the primary methodological and theoretical approaches: while survey researchers outline what characteristics high and low-SES parents value (Schneider et al. 1998; Kleitz et al. 2000; Weiher and Tedin 2002) and stratification theorists point to how these differences lead to ethnic and racial segregation (Wells 1996; Holme 2002; Saporito and Sohoni 2006), both remain silent on how parents in failing schools feel and think about their schools. They tend to assume that failing schools are ineffective schools, a point that has been countered in research (Downey et al. 2008; von Hippel 2009). Yet, little research has examined whether parents who send their children to schools that have been labeled as failing schools would agree with those labels. Clarifying how parents make meaning of their children's learning opportunities can lead to a more complex, nuanced picture of school quality that reflects experiences of parents living in communities served by "failing schools." It can also provide

insight that could help solve a puzzling phenomenon in that most parents who can opt out of failing schools don't and those who do opt out of failing schools send their children to equal or lower performing schools (Rentner et al. 2006; Stein et al. 2011). Parents' descriptions of their children's failing schools can illuminate why they remain or transfer to other "failing schools" it is possible those schools have other qualities these parents value more than test scores. In other words, if this research uncovers such qualities, it might demonstrate that schools high in such qualities are not considered by parents to be failing. This insight can lead to improved policy interventions that can overcome some of the unintended consequences caused by high stakes testing by focusing more on characteristics that these parents describe as meaningfully contributing to their children's educational experiences and learning opportunities. Another possible result could be a better acknowledgement of the successes of otherwise "failing" schools. Through this qualitative research I examine the ways low-SES parents make meaning of their children's learning opportunities at their failing schools, and how these meanings may illuminate our perspective on failing schools. Therefore, the research questions that guides this inquiry are as follows: How do parents in low-SES communities describe their failing schools? What criteria do these parents value or critique in these schools?

Context

In order to examine how parents in low-SES communities describe their schools, we studied a small urban school district located in the Intermountain West. We selected this district because (a) it published school report cards (e.g., A vs.F schools) based on student achievement and offered parents the option to attend schools outside of neighborhood, thus eliciting elements of accountability and choice that dominate current educational policy, (b) it had a variation of school quality across schools in terms of published school grades, as well as (c) a diverse

population of students across schools both in terms of race and SES. These three elements were deemed indispensable to address this question because they each affect school quality and the way parents describe their schools (Saporito and Sohoni 2006; Smrekar 2009; Kleitz et al. 2000).

The racial composition of this district matched that of the city in which it was located with two fifths of the population being White, another two fifths being Hispanic, and the remaining being Polynesian, Black, Asian, Native American or of mixed ethnicity (U.S. Census, 2010). Although this district was located within a mid-sized urban city, it had considerable racial/ethnic and socioeconomic diversity, with a little over half of the students' eligible for free and reduced lunch. Despite there being substantial diversity within this district, there was a clear line that segregated affluent White schools in the North side of the district from the poor majority-minority schools located within the South side. The school district was essentially split into two parts, the southern side which had over two thirds of the population coming from minority and low-income households, with more than half being English language learners (ELL). Schools on this side of the district average a D+ school grade from the state school system. The northern side of the district, by contrast, had a majority white population with fewer low-income families and five times less ELL students than those in the South; schools in the northern part of the district also had an average B+ grade from the state school system (see Table 1).

[Insert Table 1 about here]

In this study we focused our examination exclusively on the southern region of this district. We did so for several reasons. First, it had the greatest concentration of poverty, with over four fifths of the students being eligible for free lunch. Second, it had the greatest concentration of minorities, and third, all of the schools in this part of the district were

considered failing schools due to low school grades or not meeting AYP. The combination of these three factors made the southern region of this district the ideal setting to examine how low-SES parents describe their "failing" schools. Additionally, because of the small geographic area of the district (12 square miles), low-SES families in the southern portion usually lived within a short distance of multiple elementary schools, and they lived within relatively short drive (average 8 minutes) from an A or B+ school, typically located in the northern region of the district. Thus, low-SES parents were exposed to a variety of schools that differed in terms of school quality, as determined by school test scores and associated grades, and had the option to transfer their children to any school within the district with relatively low transportation costs. This was important for our study since many studies that examined parents' assessments about schools were often located in urban cities that lacked racial and socioeconomically diversity as well as access to higher quality schools (Wells 1996; Lee et al. 1996; David, West, and Ribbens 1994). It was also important because some researchers found that low-SES parents lacked the information necessary to assess schools (Ascher, Fruchter, and Berne 1996; Schneider et al. 2000; Sattin-Bajaj 2011). However, most of those studies were conducted in urban settings in which parents were mostly isolated in disadvantaged communities that lacked the racial, SES, and school quality diversity that we have in this setting. Therefore, for these reasons we derived our sample from the southern region of this district.

DATA AND METHODS

Sample

The school district provided the names and contact information for enrolled students for ten public elementary schools and one K-8 charter school within the district from 11 schools located in the southern area. Both undergraduate and graduate students involved in the project

participated in making phone calls to set up interviews and conducting the interviews. The youngest student in each family in each school was identified; students were then stratified into three racial groups (Pacific Islander, Hispanic, and Other, the latter of which was overwhelmingly White), and split into boys and girls and assigned rankings with a random number generator, with the goal of selecting the parents of four boys and four girls in each racial category in each school. Parents were offered a \$25 gift card as incentive for their participation. The research team made 686 phone calls, and after the elimination of numbers that were not in service or that were unanswered 310 parents were contacted and asked to participate in our study. Out of those 310, 92 households agreed to participate and were interviewed. Those who objected to participating in the study most often indicated lack of time or interest, as well as being skeptical of inviting strangers in their home to talk about their children's school. Hispanic respondents were overrepresented in the last category, which may be due to concerns about immigration documentation. This may have affected our sample by excluding more skeptical candidates. In the end we sampled 30 Pacific Islander families, 32 Hispanic/Latino families and 29 White families (see Table 2). We stratified our sample by race since parents' assessments of schools often differed by ethnicity (Kleitz et al. 2000; Lee et al. 1996) and to allow triangulation within the data. Every attempt was made to have two interviewers conduct each interview, but a handful of interviews were conducted by a single interviewer. Interviews were most often conducted at the respondent's home, but a few were conducted at a local library, a public park, a school, or a fast food restaurant. Respondents for whom English was not their first language were offered the opportunity to do the interview in their native language; these interviews were conducted by trained interviewers fluent in the non-English language and later translated into English during transcription. The majority of respondents who chose this option spoke Spanish.

Respondents who primarily used English occasionally spoke a few phrases in another language, commonly Spanish, Tongan, or Samoan. These phrases were translated at the transcription stage into English by native speakers. Most interviews took place with mothers, although in a few cases both parents were present for the interview, and in a very small number of cases respondents were non-parental guardians (such as a grandparent).

[Insert Table 2 about here]

Interview Procedure

The semi-structured qualitative interviews allowed parents to voice opinions and experiences they have had with education in their own lives and within this specific district. Interviewers asked parent(s) a series of in-depth questions about their own experiences with school, their experiences with their child's school, and what they thought determined whether or not a school was "good." Interviewers also asked the parent(s) a series of questions about where they obtained information about the school their child attended, as well as how they evaluated the reliability of the source. Finally, interviewers presented parents with a series of 17 notecards with potential indicators of school quality or "good schools" that parents say are important based on prior research (Schneider et al. 1998; Kleitz et al. 2000: Goldring and Phillips 2008). These cards covered different topics that ranged from characteristics like safety, discipline, emphasis on culture to academic reputation. Parents were further asked to sort out which characteristics they did or did not consider and then to select the three most important school characteristics they viewed as essential to their children's learning environment. Parents were asked these questions both about their children's schools and what they considered ideal schools, though we note that in practice parents almost always made reference to their children's current schools, sometimes

in comparisons to other actual school. In sum, parents discussed the school characteristics they found important in the school their children were attending.

Field Notes

After each interview, the interviewer(s) recorded notes on the interview, describing characteristics such as respondents' jobs, education, socio-economic status (based on the living conditions, number of cars, number of people living in the house, and location in the neighborhood), income, how the interviewer was received, how well the respondent answered to questions or understood the questions, how their home appears (if interviewed at home), the race/ethnicity of the respondent, etc. This information was used to gather information not readily discernable in the interview transcript, particularly the participants' socio-economic status since we did not ask parents about their income due to its sensitive nature.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Are Failing Schools Actually Good Schools?

Although all of the schools we examine in this study were failing schools according to state standards based on standardized testing, most parents we interviewed firmly believed the schools their children attended were good schools and explicitly described them as such. Parents' views were often shaped by structural reinforcements that enhanced their children's learning opportunities.

For example, Mariana, a Hispanic stay-at-home mother who was born and raised in the US, had a daughter who attended Aspen Charter, a new charter school that received an F grade after its first year of operation. When asked, "What do you think a good school is?" she described a good school as one that had:

A low classroom size. Updated resources like books, computers... a building that's not run down. And... a curriculum that is academically intensive but supported from the

administrative point of view so you know that your kids are learning a lot but they also have the personnel in place to make sure that all the kids are being supported in that learning.

Rather than referring to student achievement or school test scores, a common response by policymakers, Mariana pointed to physical, human, and curricular resources that shaped her daughter's learning opportunities as school characteristics that signaled to her that "kids [were] learning a lot" and therefore attended a good school. After describing what she defined as a good school, Mariana immediately qualified Aspen Charter as one by saying, "I think it's a good school...it had those things as well as being diverse. It was very important to us to have diversity."

Ashley, a stay-at-home mother, also described her son's C-grade school in a similar manner when she explained:

[The school had] really nice staff...The curriculum was really clear. Every day the expectations were clear. They were really welcoming of parents...They had high expectations of the children and they did great things with them. You know, some of the kids came in not speaking English. You know by October, November they looked like all the other kids pretty much. They worked really well with them and so we were really happy with how preschool had gone.

Like Mariana, Ashley also referred to certain characteristics that increased her son's ability to learn such as clear expectations, curriculum, and a welcoming environment.

Interestingly, her comments did not refer to student achievement or test scores when identifying her son's C grade school as a good school.

Isabella, a Hispanic single mother who worked two jobs, a financial planner by day and a local gym manager by night, moved in with her mother after splitting up with her partner in order to have additional child care available. As a result, she sent her children to Hawthorn Elementary, a C-grade school in which her mother's home was zoned. When asked to describe a good school, she replied by referring to the school her children attended:

I think the teachers and kinda the programs that they offer usually kind of make me... want to be a little bit more to be at that school... [They have] a lot of extracurricular activities for the kids to do, the teachers have been teaching for a while, they have new ideas, the school calendar has good community...events,... and they have, like, active PTA's.

In describing her daughters C-grade school as a good school, Isabella too pointed out various elements (e.g., experienced teachers, programs, parental involvement) she felt were essential to her daughter's learning experience. Like most parents we interviewed, she did not mention school test scores or student achievement. Isabella, even went as far as preferring her C-grade school over "private schools where you have to pay for your kids to go" because she did not think private schools offered additional resources commensurate with their costs.

The finding that these parents overwhelmingly described their children's "failing schools" as good schools is surprising because it runs contrary to the political rhetoric behind educational policies that punish failing schools (NCLB 2001). These findings also suggest that policy makers and parents emphasize different aspects when they define good schools. Unlike test-based education policies, most of the parents interviewed did not focus on student achievement but rather focused on other elements they felt meaningfully contributed to their children's learning opportunities at the school. In the following section we will explore more indepth the four school characteristics that low-SES parents most often referred to when describing their children's' good schools.

Structural Reinforcements that Enhanced Learning Opportunities

A deeper analysis of the elements parents described as essential to enhancing their children's learning opportunities revealed four common themes: (1) Schools provided specialized programs that addressed their children's needs. (2) Staff and administrators created a welcoming environment for their children to learn. (3) Caring, passionate, and creative teachers

increased their children's motivation to learn. (4) A child's enthusiasm to go to school signaled a good school. Together these four elements represent structural reinforcement that enhanced children's learning opportunities within these otherwise "failing" schools.

"Failing" schools provided specialized programs that addressed children's needs

Many low-SES parents in our sample who reported having children with some form of disability or special need, ranging from behavioral disorders (BD), autism, and ADHD to speech impediments and Tourette syndrome, explained that the schools their children attended were better equipped to handle their children's condition. In addition, many of these schools also received supplementary funding from the state to offer after school and summer programs to help improve student achievement. All of the schools in our sample were Title I schools, which meant the federal government offered additional funding for supplemental programs to be offered in schools with high concentrations of poverty. Many parents pointed to these programs as essential learning opportunities that made the schools the best environments for their children to learn.

For example, Dan, a technician who fixes ATM machines for a living, transferred his son from the northern side of the district to Cedar Elementary, a C-grade school, not because of its test score but because it had the best BD program in the district. He noted that if it wasn't for the BD program his son "would [not] be where he's at now. I think he would've got lost. I think he would've gotten labeled as a bad kid. You know 'cause he got diagnosed really early." For Dan, the availability of the BD program was a learning opportunity that was essential for his son's educational development and reintroduction into mainstream classroom. The academic quality of the school as a whole indicated by standardized test scores was immaterial compared to a specific program that could help Dan's own child.

Like Dan, Sarah, a local hair stylist whose son was diagnosed with high functioning autism, transferred her son to a failing school because it had a specialized program that could address her son's condition. She enrolled her son into Redwood Elementary (a C-grade school) because the "district psychologist suggested that that would be the best place in the area." Sarah pointed out the extent of specialized programs available when describing specific resources available to her son, who was "in the special education program over at Redwood Elementary... They've got the dog, a therapeutic dog there. Yeah, so they're really lucky." Like Dan, Sarah, was fortunate to have a program available for her son's school that could work with his disability and provide learning opportunities that could enhance his education.

Another Cedar Elementary parent, Becky, whose son has Tourette syndrome, described her son's experience at school:

At the school they invited a one of the youth ambassadors from the Tourette Syndrome Association [to] come in an' speak to the kids about Tourette syndrome...One day he [Son 1] was being teased an' most of the class stood up for [Son 1] an' Mr. [Teacher] actually rewarded the entire class for being, you know...supporting people an' stuff. He was a really good teacher for that.

For Becky, what made Cedar Elementary a good school was that it provided a supportive environment for her special-needs son to learn, and that this supportive environment extended to not only special programs for her son, but training for the entire school on interacting with students with disabilities. This was necessary because her son didn't "need help like with the education part." Instead, he needed the school to be flexible enough to work around his condition. For example, the school created a plan with her son so that he could signal to the teacher if he needed to "get out for a minute to go walk the hall, go to the bathroom, to calm down or you know." Becky said "it's things like that" which made Cedar Elementary a good school, even when she didn't have language to describe the non-academic opportunities: "It

wasn't just the education but it was more... you know." For Becky, Cedar Elementary provided more learning opportunities for her son than other, higher-performing schools. It may not have been beneficial for Becky to send her son to a higher-performing school where there was not support or resources that could tailor to her son's condition.

Leilani, a Polynesian mother who had two children with speech impediments, described Pine Elementary, a school that received an F from the state, as having a "great [emphasis] disability program [because] they have Special Ed where they work one-on-one with the students." This was important to her because her children were able to improve on their speech outside of the classroom and were slowly mainstreamed back with their classmates. She commented how her children felt "comfortable in their environment [and]...they don't have to feel like they're different...they don't feel like they're being singled out." The disability program was a crucial learning opportunity that this "failing school" provided to Leilani's children. Had Leilani focused on sending her children to a school with higher student achievement, she felt her children would have missed out on an important learning opportunity.

Other schools did not have specialized programs that focused on children with behavioral disorders. However, because many children with behavioral problems attend disadvantaged schools the teachers were often prepared to deal with such children. Don and Shela, for example, explained:

When [we] put [our son] over in [Aspen Charter] an' they actually seem to focus on him as a student an' put his, you know, ADHD second to last. Like they don't, you know, it's not the main focus on him. An' that's what I think that he needs. He needs to be treated like, you know, any other kid. But... you know, a good school is a school that's gonna take the time to teach 'em what they need to be taught. You know? But is also gonna be there to help 'em with anything that they're gonna need help with you know?

Don and Shela viewed Aspen Charter as a good school, despite its failing grade, because the school knew how to deal with their son's disability. The school's ability to focus on the children

rather than on their disruptive behaviors provided these otherwise marginal students opportunities to learn rather than ending up in the principal's office more often than in the classroom.

Sulia, a mother of four who worked at the local newspaper, was asked "For you, what is a good school?" She responded by describing her son's C-grade school:

There is a lot of programs for the kids that are English is their second language to help them reading and from that it's been 3 years right now over there and they all passed... And they said there is a fund at the school that help bring other people to come, like reading like extra time for kids that it's hard or having a hard time to learn.

For Sulia, the availability of programs that provided children, particularly ELL students, with more learning opportunities was a key element made her son's otherwise failing school a good school instead.

These findings suggests that many parents, particularly those with children with disabilities or special needs, viewed schools labeled as failing, by the state or other policy initiatives, as good schools because of the specialized programs that were available. Therefore, these programs provided additional learning opportunities for students in schools serving low-SES communities. This differs from research that describes schools in low-SES communities with limited resources and poor academic programs (Kozol 1991, 2005). It also calls into question educational policy that punishes low-SES communities by assigning heavy-handed sanctions and reduced funding to schools with low-student achievement (NCLB 2001; U.S. Department of Education 2009). If schools with specialized programs designed to help at-risk students attract such students, it may be a signal that they are performing well; however, adding such students to the general student body may depress standardized test scores, leading to these schools being punished for doing their jobs well. These findings suggest that low-SES parents value investments made in their children's schools, in particular investments that provide

specialized programs that serve their children's needs, and such programs increases their perception of the schools effectiveness.

Staff and administrators created welcoming environments for children to learn

Parents often described their interactions with staff and administration when referring to their children's schools as good schools. They used various cues such as the principal knowing the child's name, the ways the principal talked to them and handled their concerns, and even how the principals dressed. Several parents chose their children's schools because of the principal. They often described how the staff and administration affected the school's overall morale and learning environment.

For example, Jenny, who works as a computer lab assistant at a local elementary school, described her son's F-grade school, Ash Elementary, as a good school because of the staff and administration. Jenny expressed how she could tell the staff and administration were "there for the kids. They were... wanted the kids to succeed and wanted them. An' try to push them as hard as they could." For Jenny, the staff and administration were essential to creating an environment in which her children could be successful. This was important to Jenny because it enhanced learning opportunities for her son. Although her son's school was an F school, the staff and administration made it a good school for her children to learn.

Antonio and Eva also described the effect the staff had on their experience at Birch Elementary, a D-grade school. When asked why they sent their son to Birch Elementary they responded:

Eva: They care about the kids and one feels calm when they drop the kids off... At peace.

Antonio: Yeah and all the people who work there like the secretary, the office people they are all good people. And that's what we like about there.

For Eva and Antonio the personal relations they had with the staff signaled to them a school that "care[s] about the kids". Implicit in their comments was the assumption that a caring environment would best enhance their children's learning opportunities.

Like Jenny, Maria also enrolled her daughter in an F grade school. When asked what influenced her decision to send her daughter to Aspen Charter, she replied, "Just I think the friendliness of the staff there. Because I had gotten such a cold treatment at all the other schools that I contacted." She further explained that the staff and administration "were so nice, and so caring and so welcoming ... so like right off the bat I felt so cared for, for me and my kids, I just felt so welcomed there.." Later that year the school grade came out and Maria and her husband received a letter from the principal informing them that the school had received an F grade. Maria said, "I was like, well it doesn't seem like an F school to me. You know?" When asked why she felt that way she responded, "Just the whole experience I mean the interactions with the principal, the vice principal... and the kids there." Maria's positive interaction with the staff and administration signaled a warm and caring environment that could enhance her children's learning opportunities, but at the same time signaled an environment where she was welcome to participate in her daughter's education as well.

Selina, a Colombian mother who works as a nurse in the local hospital, also enrolled her son in Aspen Charter. She described how the new principal changed the overall quality of the school. She explained, "So it was a rough first year and then the second year a new principal came and it was a complete flip of how the school used to run things. And he has just been amazing. Unbelievable. Everybody knows everybody and they're doing great." For her the administration was central to the school's learning environment, and in this case the administration turned a hostile and disorganized environment into a rich and welcoming place

for everyone. Many parents with children at Aspen Charter described how the new principal instituted Friday mornings as a time for "community circle" in which parents came to the school assembly and watched their children receive awards for exemplifying the schools values such as: "persistence," "honesty," and "hard work." For many parents, the staff and administration were key to creating a learning environment for the entire school that included values parents wanted instilled in their child. In addition, if a principal was lively, enthusiastic, and caring, many parents found that teachers and other school personnel adopted those same characteristics, creating a more welcoming and effective learning environment for their children. For parents, a caring and lively environment greatly enhanced their children's learning opportunities.

For example, Alofa, a Samoan stay at home mother, described how the principal changed her daughter's school environment. When asked why she decided to put her daughter in Pine Elementary, an F-grade school, she explained, "I loved loved the principal. The principal made learning fun there an' her vibe spread to all her teachers an' they all wanted to make it fun. An' then, so all my kids went there, every single one of them. I just kept them..." Alofa valued the learning environment this principal fostered so much that when her family moved out of the school boundaries she transferred all her children back to Pine Elementary—she actively chose to send her children to a failing school outside of their zone. She described the atmosphere of the school as one in which they "care for your child not only as a student but as a person an' so I kept all of them there." She mentioned how the leadership of the principal created that caring and personal environment that she wanted for her children, an environment which enhanced her children's academic experience.

Leilani, a Samoan mother who worked as a parking attendant, also transferred her children to Pine Elementary because of the principal. When asked to elaborate on how the principal made a difference, Leilani replied:

With my kids it made a big difference. Only because it showed that this principal was active with her staff...Not only was she active with her staff, but she knows kids by names...So yeah, actual did make a bigger impact...

For Leilani, an active principle who knew her children personally made a big impact on her children's learning opportunities at the school. An active principal signaled to Leilani that the rest of the teachers at the school would not slack off but would be active as well; thus providing her children greater opportunities to learn. Many parents pointed out how the principal's passion for education and interest in their children trickled down to the staff and teachers and also reached their children.

Like Leilani, many parents emphasized how staff members' familiarity with their children made their failing schools good environments for their children to learn. When Jenny, a grandmother with three grandchildren attending Maple Elementary (a C-grade school), was asked what she liked about their school she immediately responded:

Mrs. Christina. There's a gal in the office an' she really is awesome... She's just always involved with the kids. She can match every child with their parent. I walk in there an' she knows my grandkids. She knows all three of my kids, you know? An' it's been years.

Jenny took notice that the staff knew her and her grandchildren. To her this signaled personal interest and investment in her grandchildren, and this translated her perceptions of an otherwise failing school into a good atmosphere for her grandchildren to learn. Therefore, a school with staff and administration that knows and cares for the students was perceived as a good school because it provided an environment that enhanced children's learning opportunities. In the minds of many parents, children were more likely to learn when they were valued and cared for by

school personnel.

Many parents mentioned the importance of the principal knowing their children's names. For example, Dan transferred his son to Cedar Elementary. When asked what he liked about his son's school, he explained, "Administration. They've an awesome one now. I mean they listen, they don't judge. You know, they get to know the kids." For Dan getting "to know the kids" signaled a good school. It demonstrated to him that they valued his son as an individual rather than a statistic. This implicitly signaled to him the school would provide an optimal setting for his son to learn. Similarly, Ashley, a White mother at Oak Elementary (C-grade school) noted that her son's principal knew not only her son's name but "by the third week of school she knows almost every child's name." Principals that knew children's names were described by parents as "passionate," "energetic," "open-minded," "caring," and "non-judgmental." Knowing children's names signaled to the parents the principal was "not just sitting in her office looking at a report or looking at test scores. She's active with her students. She gets out there and she does things," as Leilani described her child's principal. For these parents, an active principal who knew their children personally was most qualified to create a school environment that could enhance their children's learning opportunities.

These findings are in line with previous work on low-SES parents' emphasis on their children being valued as individuals. For example, parents' repeated appreciation for staff and administrators knowing their children's names may be similar to research on African American naming conventions (Lieberson 1984; Lieberson and Mikelson 1995; Fryer and Levitt 2004). Suggesting that African Americans created unique names so their children could be recognized as distinct individuals. African American parents may have wanted school personnel to struggle with their children's names as a means of insuring they will recognize and view their children as

individuals. Our findings show that low-SES parents, irrespective of their race, shared this desire for school personnel to know their children's names and acknowledge the parents as valued individuals when the visited the school. Staff and administrators use of students' and parents' names signaled to parents that schools took personal interest in their children, which to them suggested the school had a warm and caring environment. For low-SES parents, a warm and caring environment was a better indicator of the schools' quality than test scores. For most of these parents, a caring environment served as a proxy for a good school, and a good school was assumed to naturally produce greater learning opportunities.

These findings also run somewhat in contrast to Lareau's (1987:78) description of low-SES parents' interactions with school personnel as "stiff and awkward." It is possible that the parents in Lareau's sample would not have described their children's schools as good schools the way these respondents did, at least in part because of their interactions with staff. Still, our findings reflect some of the same underlying ideas: the low-SES parents in our sample described their children's schools as good ones because the principals running them were "open-minded" and "non-judgmental" rather than assuming these parents could not be full, active participants in their children's education. In fact, upon calling parents to participate in our study several parents immediately called their children's principals to check on the legitimacy of the study and to express concerns about how we obtained their children's information. One Hispanic mother finally agreed to participate after she confirmed the legitimacy of our study with the principal. These parents were comfortable and confident enough with their dealings with school administrators that they felt they could seek them out for additional information and support, and this was an important indicator of school quality to them. Our findings challenge the view that low-SES parents interact with schools differently than high-SES parents, at least in

circumstances where low-SES parents feel they and their children are welcomed and valued by school personnel. When low-SES parents feel they and their children are treated with respect by school personnel, they have positive reflections on the school that they use to assess the school as a high quality school, regardless of state-assigned grades or test scores.

Caring, passionate, and creative teachers increased children's motivation to learn

Parents' positive comments about their children's schools were often centered on teachers. Many parents in our sample described their children's teachers as caring, creative, and passionate about their work. Such teachers were viewed as essential to enhancing children's learning opportunities within the classroom. Often when a teacher was described as "a good teacher," the parents viewed test scores as non-essential to their children's learning.

For example, Leilani, whose daughter attends Pine Elementary (F-grade school), found test scores less important in defining a good school, because as she explains, it's the "teachers and staff themselves that make that test score matter." She says that if she only looked at the test scores she would have overlooked her child's school, "only because the teachers they don't... it's not that they're not focused on test scores. They probably are, but they are more concerned about the student being comfortable, and learning, and understanding than they are about them getting that right answer." For Leilani, test scores did not signal teacher's quality, but rather it was the teachers' concern for the child's welfare that made them good teachers and, by association, the schools they taught in good schools. A caring teacher who could make children's learning environment "comfortable" was viewed as an essential asset for providing children learning opportunities.

Like Leilani, many of the parents viewed whether or not teachers cared for their children as a priority in assessing schools. Therefore, a good school was one in which the teachers cared about the children. For example, Dayanara, a Mexican mother whose daughter attends Redwood Elementary (C-grade), was worried the first day she dropped her children off at the school because her children were English language learners. She waited outside her child's classroom window to observe how the teacher interacted with the children. She was impressed when she saw a girl crying and saw the teacher immediately take notice and ask the girl for a hug to calm the child. After a brief hug, the little girl quieted down and went on as if nothing happened. Dayanara commented, "You can tell that she's doing her job well." For Dayanara, a good teacher cares for the children in their classroom as much as the children's parents care for them. Another Hispanic mother, Selina, whose son attends an F-grade school, was asked to elaborate on she liked about her children's teachers. She responded by saying, "I like...how they deal with the kids...They are not like 'I'm the teacher you are the student, I'm up here you're down here.' They make them feel like a family. It's a family thing... I think it's awesome." Like Dayanara, Selina viewed a good teacher as a surrogate parent, one who makes the children feel like family.

Toa, a Tongan mother with two sons attending Redwood Elementary (C-grade school), moved to the United States from Tonga only 8 months prior being interviewed. In Tonga, Toa and her husband were school teachers, so she felt like she was an in an excellent position to assess her children's new teachers in this school district. Toa viewed the teacher's interactions with her sons as she volunteered to help out in the classroom. She commented, "Like from ... my background as a teacher, once when I get in [the school] I can tell okay if you are safe." She further explained:

Like for me as a teacher...one thing I learned from my teachers in Tonga it's like, one word when I tell you this, that's it. So over here, it's like they explained it, the kids are

welcome to say what they think and then the teacher will go back and explain why she thinks this is the best

For Toa, a good teacher was one that made the children feel welcome by allowing them to express themselves, but was also able to impart correct information and teach new skills while making students feel safe with what they brought to the classroom. Her children's teachers were very different from the teachers in Tonga, who were not easy to approach. She viewed the teacher's interaction with the children as refreshing, welcoming, and conducive to providing her children open learning opportunities.

Parents were keen to identify teachers who were enthusiastic, creative, and passionate, and they were just as keen to enroll their children in schools populated by such teachers. Stanley, a Pine Elementary parent (F-grade school), shared a similar sentiment. He explains how he likes "teachers who could help [Daughter] learn how to love to learn. And to keep her liking going to school." Stanley's comment reflects what most parents in our sample expressed, in that parents found it difficult to keep children interested in learning, especially in a formal setting like school. However, enthusiastic, passionate teachers could maintain their children's attention, which expanded their children's learning opportunities. Like many of the parents we interviewed, Stanley felt that the teachers' enthusiasm would rub off on his daughter and make her schooling experience enjoyable, thus making it easier to get him to school and excited about learning. Maria, a Hispanic mother, after her first encounter with her child's teacher described her as "an excited and happy person! You could tell that she loves kids and she was super nice throughout the whole school year."

For many of these parents, the ways good teachers pushed back against traditional measures of good schools were important. For example, Tiene, a Birch Elementary (D-grade school) parent, explained the reason why she liked her daughter's school was because she liked

the way her daughter's teacher "teaches them, she teaches it to where it's not boring, and they're [school administration] like, 'no, you need to just teach it and move on to the next thing." Whereas the administration at Birch Elementary was focused on teaching to the test, possibly to increase low student achievement scores and escape the potential punishments associated with low performance, Tiene felt the teachers at Birch Elementary were more concerned with whether the material grasped her daughter's attention and whether her skills developed appropriately. Jenny, an Ash elementary (F grade) parent, expressed a similar thought. When Jenny was asked why she chose her grandson's school, she said, "I wanted him to be at that school because, well, I loved the kindergarten teachers." When asked what she liked about the kindergarten teachers she said, "They were, you know, active in their lives an' they were creative an' it wasn't just here work sheet, work sheet, work sheet, work sheet. They actually they did things with 'em an' they, you know, did different activities an' things with 'em." For Jenny, although her grandson attended a failing school by traditional measures, the teachers' pedagogical approaches were what made learning interesting, interactive, and fun rather than teaching a standard lesson and assigning work sheets. A lively and thought-provoking classroom provided her grandchildren greater learning opportunities and signaled a good school.

Past research paints failing schools as filled with low quality, burnt out teachers and restricted learning opportunities (Kozol 1991, 2005; Boyd et al. 2005; Hanushek et al. 2002 2004). However, our findings show how many low-SES parents described their schools containing caring, creative, and enthusiastic teachers who enhanced children's learning opportunities. Part of this description is due to the qualitative nature of our data which has allowed us a deeper looker into failing schools that goes beyond easily-measured indicators of teacher quality such as teacher certification, number of years taught, and student achievement

scores. While it is convenient for state and federal policy makers to determine teacher quality based on such measures because such assessments cost less time and fewer resources, the parents in our sample had a deep appreciation for teachers' efforts rather than their formal qualifications. Our findings suggest the need for government officials to use a more holistic approach when determining teacher quality as well as school effectiveness.

These findings also run contrary to research which indicates that low-SES parents tend to place greater value on non-academic factors and thus questions parents' abilities to select the best educational environments of their children (Carnegie Foundation 1992; Lee et al. 1996; Wells 1991, 1996). In contrast, our findings suggest that parents are very aware of academic factors, in particular teachers' classroom practices and traits that enhanced children's learning opportunities. However, parents and researchers may be looking at different outcomes when determining teacher quality. Many parents focused on teachers' interpersonal interactions with their children as well as their delivery of instruction. Parents were able to identify good teachers by the ways the teacher treated their children and the personal interest they took in learning about them as evident to them by simple gestures such as knowing the child's name or by the interesting activities teachers used to educate the children. These parental assessments were often linked to wanting their children to be excited to go to school, evidence of access to learning opportunities that are quite divergent from standardized testing approaches to measuring educational outcomes.

These findings also demonstrates that low-SES parents act much like high-SES parents when interacting with teachers (Lareau 1987). Lareau (1987) described how affluent parents were more likely to contact teachers and discuss academic matters while low-SES parents were more likely to mention non-academic matters such as the need to extend lunch time. In contrast,

their children's individual educational needs and even volunteered to help out in classrooms or on school field trips. To some extent this may reflect our sampling strategy; parents more willing to be interviewed might also be more willing to interact with their children's schools. The consistency of these findings across our relatively large sample, however, suggest that when low-SES parents believe teachers are creative and enthusiastic, this signals that the schools in which these teachers work are good schools, regardless of test scores or grades assigned by the state.

Children's enthusiasm for school signaled a good school

Many parents viewed their children's failing schools as good schools because their children were more motivated to attend school when they felt comfortable in their environment and enthusiastic about learning. Children's enthusiasm for attending school was viewed as another element that enhanced their learning opportunities. Parents in our sample were asked about their own schooling experiences, and they often drew on such experiences to make comparisons to their children's current schooling, pointing out that it is hard for children to learn if they do not want to be at school. Parents were keenly aware of the difficulties of making formal schooling an appealing activity, especially if that schooling took place in a poor educational environment. Therefore, they greatly valued schools their children were enthusiastic to attend as good schools.

For example, Mua, a Samoan father, described why he sent his daughter back to Aspen Charter, an F-grade school, after sending her to their neighborhood school:

We took [Daughter 1] out, but she just didn't like the schools she's going to, just socially. You know what I mean, and then it started reflecting on her school work and we put her back in Aspen Charter. And I keep saying this that socially she feels safe and comfortable at Aspen Charter, enough to the point where it makes a difference to what she's learning and how she's learning

Here Mua demonstrates that his daughter's learning experience was significantly better when she attended school where she felt socially comfortable. Although Aspen Charter was a failing school according to the state, it was the better school for Mua's daughter because she enjoyed going to school, which increased her learning opportunities.

This child-driven definition of good schools was common among the parents in our sample. Lemalu's children also attend Aspen Charter, and he explained that his children were happy at the school, which he attributed to Aspen Charter being a good school. He said, "For me, Aspen Charter is good, [and] it shows. They come home...they explain to me what they did that day... So I decided, okay if they're happy they will want to go to school." Like Mua, Lemalu felt Aspen Charter was a good school because his children *wanted* to go to school. He further explained his reasoning for sending his children to a school they enjoy by saying, "I'm not going to be the one sitting in the classroom; they will be, and if they are not happy they don't want to study. So that's why I decided to take them to Aspen Charter. They like it, they like the school."

Tama, who grew up in Western Samoa, knew the consequences of limiting his learning opportunities because of lack of interest in school. He lamented how he didn't "push [him]self hard in school" because he didn't find school interesting; as a result he ended up not going to college until 20 years after graduated from high school. When it came to sending his son to school, he didn't want his son to make the same mistakes so he chose Aspen Charter because his son was "comfortable." He further explained, "we're trying to look for himself like if he's happy in the school in the class he will learn...[Now] he's doing really good in school." Tama found that when his son was comfortable and happy in his environment, he learned and flourished because of his increased learning opportunities. Because Tama was pleased that his son was not

experiencing the same school problems he had in his own life, he attributed the improved experiences to Aspen Charter's quality.

Parents in other schools in the district share similar experiences. For instance, Melissa a Birch Elementary (C-grade school) mother, explained that she liked her daughter's school because it had a good "environment." When asked what she meant by "environment," she responded, "I mean like when kids go to school I think it should be a fun, great place for the kids. They want to go to school. I want it to be just inviting and I want the kids to say how much they love their teacher an' how much they learned." For Melissa, a good environment wasn't just a place where kids have fun, but one in which they enjoyed learning. Catalina, another Birch parent, described how the school motivated students to do well on their homework by using coupons. If they did well they would get a coupon for a restaurant. Catalina explained

[That's a] good thing 'cause when you do these little things like that it inspire kids more to work more harder, you know? They wanna be better than the other one...That's a good thing that they do things like that to inspire kids to work more harder. At the school where, I never seen anything like that in the other school. An' we feel like he learn more, he wants to work more harder when he sees there somethin' up there, wants to be the best.

Like other parents, Catalina viewed how the school created an environment in which her children wanted to learn and work hard as evidence that the school was a good school.

James, a Walnut Elementary parent, captured this sentiment well, stating, "all I know is the outcome...the outcome was my son was happy to go to school. He was proud of his projects. He had friends." For him a good school was one in which his son felt comfortable and found pride in his work that motivated additional learning. James contrasted his son's experience at Walnut Elementary to another failing school in the district. He recounted, "At the other school he was becoming very reclusive, very sad, he would say I'm sick when he wasn't." For James, Walnut Elementary, enhanced his son's learning opportunities by making school something he

looked forward to.

For most low-SES parents, a good school was one which provided a welcoming environment that encouraged the love of learning. A love of learning enhanced children's learning opportunities by drawing them into the school more often. Although these schools were labeled as failing schools by the state according to student achievement measures, these parents viewed them as good schools. For these parents, a happy child was more likely to learn than one that was sad, and a child who was eager to go to school would be exposed to more learning opportunities than children who looked for ways to avoid school. Many of the parents made explicit contrasts between their children's academic growth when their children were attending schools they were happy in compared when they were attending schools where they were unhappy; they also contrasted their children's positive experiences to their own negative ones and were grateful their children were in "better" schools than they had attended themselves. Father Knows Best: Are Parents Making Accurate Assessments of What a Good School Is?

Some researchers and policymakers may assume that these parents did not mention student achievement or test scores in their descriptions of a good schools not because they value other criteria that signal specific learning opportunities, but simply because they are unaware of the other, more objective assessment measures. Some research has argued that low-SES parents are less likely to use or respect test scores as true assessments of school quality because these parents lack information (Ascher et al. 1996; Schneider et al. 2000; Sattin-Bajaj 2011). For our sample, this was not the case: many of these parents were very aware of either their children's schools' test scores or that their children's schools were not considered the best schools in the

district. These parents simply did not value the test-based assessments as good indicators of school quality.

Some parents knew the test scores because they sought them out; others heard about test scores and related grades from school personnel. For example, Tama a Samoan immigrant who worked at a produce company warehouse, told us how "the grades that came out; like, I think Oak Elementary got a D. I think Aspen Charter got an F the first year. And a lot of people moved their kids out once they found out Aspen Charter got an F." However, unlike those who left failing schools, Tama did not believe the test scores indicated important information about his son's school. He explains:

And we were like eh, but Maika'i is at the top of the class. You know what I mean? And he's learning what he needs to be learning and he's above the state so does it really matter that the rest of the kids in the class aren't learning where they should be at and can they really do that in a year?

Tama knew the test scores of Aspen Charter and that better-rated schools were available to him. He didn't keep his son in a failing school out of ignorance, but rather because he observed independent evidence that his son was learning well at that school. These findings are similar to those observed for higher-SES parents in urban settings who are aware of their schools' inferior test scores but feel that their ability to supplement their children's education makes up for the school setting (Kimelberg 2014). For both high- and low-SES parents, then, their individual child's success and circumstances outweighed evidence from the state about school quality.

Maria and Juan also had children attending Aspen Charter and explained how the principal wrote a letter to all the parents informing them that the school received an F grade from the state. They described reading the letter carefully and were well aware of their school's failing status. Yet, when asked about his reaction to the school receiving an F grade, Juan responded, "It just didn't seem like an F school to me. I would have gave it a B+ or something." In both of

these comments, the parents knew the test scores of their failing schools: they just rejected them and kept their children in the same schools.

Parents were also aware their children were enrolled in schools labeled as failing because of the stigma that the southern side of the school district had for its low school grades. For example, Hannah, a stay-at-home mother whose daughter attended another F-grade school, explained that she also knew that "the [South] side [was] the poor side and lots of parents drive their kids to the [North] side to go to good schools...I definitely think that there is that mentality that the [North] side is more well off." Yet like other parents in our sample, she continued to insist that her own daughter's school was a good school.

Other parents became aware of school grades and test scores because of their involvement at the schools. For example, when Ashley was asked where she got information about her children's school, she said, "I attended SCC (School Council Committee) and PTA like I don't know four, five times each of those per year an' so I knew that there was probably information available." Ashley also knew that her children's school had low test scores by looking up easily-available information on the internet. However, she was not worried about her child's school being designated as a failing school because of additional information about other criteria she gathered from her interactions with parents, teachers, and administrators at the school. Like Ashley, Toa also volunteered often at the school and gathered information about the school from her interactions with the teachers and students in the classroom. When describing her son's schools, she explained:

R: Hey this is good, our school is good...I go and volunteer...At my kid's school... and I can tell they're doing really good.

I: What things did you notice that were good?

R: Because I would go to their classroom and I could see things I didn't see in Tonga.

I: What things?

R: Like...the computer. [Son 1] and [Son 2] they have individual teachers and then two to three hours of English with another teacher.

Toa and Ashley, along with many other parents in our sample, valued their own observations of learning activities, environments, and opportunities in their children's schools, and their personal experience with the schools often trumped the schools' low test scores or bad reputations. This extended to observations about student outcomes, as well. Don and Shela, who had children attending Aspen Charter, became aware of the failing school grad but said, "They didn't score great. But... I like the way that they teach over there an' I feel like he's (their son) doin' a pretty good job over there so...it doesn't bother [us]."

These parents were not uninformed about their schools as past research has argued (Ascher et al. 1996; Schneider et al. 2000; Sattin-Bajaj 2011). In some cases they were more proactive in finding information about their schools than high-SES parents. For, example, Holme (2002) explained that many of the affluent parents she interviewed did not visit their schools to check if the schools were as good as their peers had expressed. She also noted that very few of the parents even knew the test scores of their children's schools. Unlike the parents that Holme (2002) interviewed, many of these low-SES parents were aware of their schools' low-test scores. Although not all of the parents we interviewed knew school test scores or made personal visits to the schools, most of the parents were generally aware of that their schools were the lower performing schools in the district. Many of those parents who continued to insist their children attended good schools did so because they found test scores to be problematic.

Reasons Parents Problematize Test Scores

Our analysis found that a majority of the parents in our sample were aware of schools' test scores but actively rejected test scores as accurate indicators of school quality. Parents' objections to test scores were either related to their concerns about potential testing or for their accuracy in representing school quality.

Some parents found test scores problematic because they viewed testing as biased and unfair to those who are intelligent but not skilled at taking tests. As was true when discussing the importance of children being happy and content at school, these parents often spoke from their own experience in taking standardized tests. For instance, Sone, a Tongan father whose son attends an F-grade school, admitted that "test scores is something that my eye naturally gravitates to" because "it's easy to look at a school's test scores and say wow, they're doing really well and the students are learning, I want my kid to be in that environment." Yet he acknowledged the limitations of using standardized tests to assess either individual students or schools because he never was a good "test taker." Sone further pointed out "it goes back to the exposure and the experience I was talking about—that maybe was a given for someone who grew up in the larger culture, who was exposed to those things, but for me, it wasn't that common, so I couldn't relate to it. And I don't think it was a true and accurate measure of my knowledge, it's just I was never exposed to it." Thus, Sone pointed out how tests were biased against Polynesian students like his children because these students were not exposed to certain subjects growing up in their communities, whether those communities were in the islands or in the United States. Tavita, a Polynesian father, shared the same concern when he stated, "Just 'cause you don't pass a test doesn't mean you don't know what you're talking about. A lot of people freeze up or clam up when they hear it's a test... They know their information, it's all

there, they could tell you every inch of it but you say oh we're having a test and uhhhh I don't know if I'm doing this right you know? So test scores, I don't really think they mean a whole lot."

Whitney, a White mother of a daughter, is an unusual position to comment on the ways test scores do or do not accurately assess student learning, as she is a teacher at the same school her daughter attends. Elm Elementary is a C school according to the state, but Whitney rejects the idea that this grade reflects the learning that goes on in the school, in large part because she was critical of the items on the test itself. As a teacher, she was able to see first-hand some of the questions on the standardized tests that were administered to her students, who were 90 percent poor minorities. She comments:

R: They're not valid, for this population.

I: Can you expound on that?

R: Okay, so when they ask my students and they tell em a story about Girl Scouts and none of em have ever met a Girl Scout or been a Girl Scout or even know what the Girl Scouts are. And they're asking them comprehensions questions and they ask the school on the [north] side, where they're all Girl Scouts, those questions aren't really fair... 'cause they have no background knowledge...Or there was a question with like a yacht, they don't know what a yacht is.

Like Sone and Tavita, Whitney was quite aware of the difference between the life experiences of the children in the southern part of the district compared to those in the wealthier, Whiter northern side of the district and how test questions provided contextual advantage to children in the North. As such, she rejected the test scores as measures of school quality and focused, like other parents in the sample, on indicators of learning opportunities she observed in the school itself, like teacher creativity and a student growth.

Mariana, a Mexican immigrant whose daughter also attends an F-grade school, provided a compelling argument when she explained:

When you have...what are considered objective things that kids should be learning an' be able to be tested on, well whose importance has decided that these are the things that children should learn from these angles an' then they're being tested on it but they come from completely differen[t] backgrounds. You know? It's seen as being objective but it's really, really not.

Mariana's critique against the "objectivity" of tests was mostly founded on the point that test content is not neutral because its created based on what groups in power deem important and caters to those groups' experiences that most minorities may not be familiar with. She further explained that "Ethiopia[ns] ...have a completely different experience an' it's not just a... what should be considered a language barrier but they come from a place where like their strengths an' resources are completely different an' what is expected of 'em in a normal classroom." Like the other parents we interviewed, Mariana considered these critiques of testing reason enough to reject the failing labels applied to her child's school.

The common anxiety across most parents' concerns was that test content was biased in favor of privileged groups, particularly White or wealthy students. These concerns mirrored researchers who argue that high stakes testing creates bias against low-SES and minority populations (Orfield and Wald 2000; Gillborn and Youdell 2000; Madaus and Clarke 2001; McNeil 2005; McNeil and Valenzuela 2001; Nichols et al. 2005). These parents' comments also sided with researchers who argue that high stakes testing reproduces inequality (Au 2008; Orfield and Wald 2000). In other words, rather than being ignorant of test scores or what they may indicate, the low-SES parents we interviewed assertively joined those who reject the ways test scores create labels that reproduce privilege. Mariana demonstrated this powerfully when she stated, "I feel like test scores are really good example of how school is all about maintaining social structure."

Parents also problematized test scores by questioning whether test scores fairly represent schools efforts to improve, especially when working with populations who came to school with fewer resources than students in the more privileged northern segment of the school district. Stephanie, a single mother with two children attending Cedar Elementary (a C-grade school), rejected test scores because "[she didn't] know how you can base the...student's testing on teachers or the quality of teachers because it's off how much the student really retains. And you can't blame a teacher...I guess you could if they're not teaching in a way that is right." While acknowledging that teachers, and to the same extent schools, could be blamed for not providing effective learning opportunities, Stephanie suggests that testing can't really identify teacher or school quality because students being tested bring so many outside influences to the school. She further explains, "You have to put some responsibility on the student too. I had test anxiety so I was not a good tester and I was good with everything else." Stephanie sympathized with schools because test scores are based on "student" achievement not "school" achievement.

Dan shared Stephanie concern for using test scores to determine school quality. Dan explains:

You can't take a group...an' expect them to perform exactly the same. No matter, you could have ten kids go through the same let's say math course for one day. At the end of the day you test them, they're all gonna be different. So that's why test scores to me don't mean as much as maybe some parents...I'm not a big fan of pigeonholing kids.

Dan rejected test scores as an indicator for school quality because he felt they represented the knowledge the students brought with them to the course better than they represented the schools' ability and efforts to teach students.

Jackie, a high school teacher with children attending Maple Elementary (a C-grade school), also questioned whether test scores fairly represented schools efforts to improve student

learning. When asked why she did not consider test scores when assessing her children's school she replied:

I think that being a low income area and a lot of immigrants the test scores aren't really going to say whether the school is doing good or bad because I think a lot of the students may just be a little disadvantaged with having to learn English an' so it's going to be harder for them.

Here, Jackie rightly pointed out that her children's school had a large percentage of ELL; in fact 61 percent of the children in Maple Elementary were ELL students. As she pointed out, these students were disadvantaged because they had the additional challenge of learning English in order to understand the questions on the test. However, although most parents we talked to knew this, the state school grading system that labeled these falling schools as A vs. F schools did not take the percentage of ELL students into consideration when assigning grades. Therefore, schools that served large percentages of ELL students were most likely to receive failing grades not due to instructional failures or a lack of learning opportunities, but because of challenges the students brought to school.

In sum, most of the parents we interviewed rejected test scores either because they thought the test scores were biased or because they thought test scores were not accurate indicators of school quality. These findings run contrary to research that indicated that low-SES parents placed a higher value on test score (Lee et al. 1996; Schneider et al. 1998; Jacob and Lefgren 2007), though the qualitative analysis we present here does allow us to dig more deeply into what those parents say they value. It is possible that if we had given our respondents similar surveys, they might also have marked that they valued test scores as indicators of school quality in a similar way. When we were able to probe more deeply, parents told us about their suspicions of standardized testing. Our findings also suggest that low-SES parents do not judge schools based on narrow measures of student achievement, providing more evidence for the perspective

that discredits student achievement scores as accurate indicators of school quality (Downey et al. 2008; von Hippel 2009; Au 2008). In rejecting student achievement scores as accurate indicators of school quality, these parents pointed to non-school factors as reasons for their schools' low performance, observations that are supported by a large amount of literature that suggest that student achievement gaps between high and low SES students are due to non-school factors (Coleman et al. 1966; Jencks et al. 1972; Downey et al. 2008).

Interestingly, our findings suggest that low-SES parents are not too different from high-SES parents when it comes to ignoring test scores when assessing schools if they think they have superior information from other sources. Holme (2002) found that high-SES parents did not use test scores to assess their schools' quality. Additionally, Kimelberg (2014) found that high-SES parents also rejected test scores when assessing public schools within an urban setting because they felt their own children's performance was better evidence of learning opportunities.

CONCLUSION

Our findings raise serious concerns for the way educational policies identify so called failing schools by using standard test scores as measures of academic achievement. If parents who are served by "failing" schools can describe multiple elements that enhance learning opportunities within their children's schools, as evident in this study, then there is a need to question the current system that many states are using to evaluate schools. Is it fair to label a school as a failing institution when the measures (e.g., student achievement) that are used to identify failing schools have been found to have major methodological (see Downey et al. 2008; von Hippel 2009) and theoretical flaws (Coleman et al., 1966; Fitz-Gibbon, 1996; Sammons et al., 1996; Willms, 1992)? Most parents in our sample, who were all served by schools that have

been labeled as failing based on educational policies (e.g., NCLB 2001) described in intricate detail several ways their schools enhanced their children's learning opportunities.

Our findings also suggest that some schools may be falsely labeled as failing institutions (Downey et al. 2008), which places undue stigma on educators and schools that serve low-SES communities. One way to avoid stigmatizing schools would be by using broader measures of school quality, including those that people who actually use those schools apply. Studies have provided several methods of calculating school quality by using measures other than student achievement, such as learning rates (Sanders 1998; Sanders and Horn 1998) or seasonal impacts (Downey et al. 2008 2004). Our findings suggest a number of other potential indicators of school quality, including parental satisfaction with teachers, administrators' success in creating positive school culture, and parental identification of important learning opportunities. It would benefit school districts and the communities they serve if valid measures were used to identify schools that need assistance in improving student learning.

One of the critiques of our study, actually sheds light on policy implications that could be applied to fairly assess and improve what are now labeled as failing schools. It is somewhat surprising that the picture these parents painted of the "failing" schools their children attended included desirable resources like new computers and buildings, special curriculums, and enthusiastic teachers, which did not match the lack of resources described by other researchers examining underserved communities (e.g., run downed buildings, bad teachers, limited resources) (Kozol 1991, 2005). One of the reasons parents in our sample might have so readily identified a number of programs and criteria that increased their children's learning opportunities was because the school district we examined treated schools in the South differently than those in the North by placing more resources in the southern schools that needed them most. The

district made concerted effort to guide the more qualified administrators and teachers to the lowest performing schools. The district provided structural reinforcements, such as computers, playground equipment, renovated buildings, full-day kindergarten programs, free preschool programs, higher teacher pay, bilingual teachers, special education programs, and more experience administrators, to the lowest-performing schools concentrated in the southern part of the district in an effort to increase performance in those schools. To date, there is little evidence that such efforts have increased traditional measures of performance, as these schools still receive failing grades. However, our results show that parents who were served by these socalled failing schools reaped the benefits of this approach and highly valued many of these resources. Perhaps most important, they reported that they believed the schools that served them were good schools because their children were eager to go to school each day. This is a notable finding for populations that are often hard to reach or stigmatized in formal educational structures, and should lead to increased learning opportunities that may be related to increased performance in time. We suggest this district as a model approach to providing greater equity in resources to schools, in particularly those that serve high-poverty and minority populations.

In a relation to school quality our findings also speak to research on teacher and principal evaluations. From parents' point of view, a good teacher or principal is more than someone who can raise the student achievement levels of an entire school. Rather, the parents we interviewed emphasized caring and welcoming environments. If education policies continue to overemphasize student achievement scores over other factors that parents value, then those teachers and administrators who cater to low-SES parents' concerns (many which are not test related) are pulled between conflicting demands of different stakeholders (e.g., state vs. parents). With the state demanding higher student achievement, regardless of the demographic

characteristics of student populations, and parents who want principals to view their children as individuals rather than statistics that determine the administrators bonus check and job security, school personnel are put in a lose/lose situation. One way policy makers can address this dilemma is by including elements that parents value when assessing teachers and administrators as well as steering away from using student achievement measures.

In sum, educational policies may benefit by considering low-SES parents views about failing schools before they make high-stakes decisions. Continuing to do so would be like a doctor who prescribes a treatment without asking the patient where it hurts.

REFERENCES

- Abrams, Lisa M., Joseph J. Pedulla, and George F. Madaus. 2003. "Views from the Classroom: Teachers' Opinions of Statewide Testing Programs." *Theory Into Practice* 42(1):18–29.
- Ainsworth, James. 2002. "Why Does It Take a Village? The Mediation of Neighborhood Effects on Educational Achievement." *Social Forces* 81(1):117–52.
- Amrein, Audrey L., and David C. Berliner. 2002. "High-Stakes Testing, Uncertainty, and Student Learning." *Education Policy Analysis Archives* 10(18):1–74.
- Ascher, Carol, Norm Fruchter, and Robert Berne. 1996. *Hard Lessons: Public Schools and Privatization*. New York: Twentieth Century Fund.
- Au, Wayne W. 2008. "Devising Inequality: A Bernsteinian Analysis of High-stakes Testing and Social Reproduction in Education." *British Journal of Sociology of Education* 29(6):639–51.
- Au, Wayne W. 2009. *Unequal by Design: High-Stakes Testing and the Standardization of Inequality*. New York: Routledge.
- Barksdale-Ladd, Mary Alice, and Karen F. Thomas. 2000. "What's at Stake in High-Stakes

 Testing: Teachers and Parents Speak Out." *Journal of Teacher Education* 51(5):384–397.
- Boyd, Donald, Hamilton Lankford, Susanna Loeb, and James Wyckoff. 2005. "Explaining the Short Careers of High-Achieving Teachers in Schools with Low-Performing Students." *The American Economic Review* 95(2):166–171.
- Carnegie Foundation. 1992. *School Choice: A Special Report*. Princeton, New Jersey: Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching.

- Chase-Lansdale, P. Lindsay, and Rachel A. Gordon. 1996. "Economic Hardship and the Development of Five- and Six-Year-Olds: Neighborhood and Regional Perspectives." Child Development 67(6):3338-3367.
- Chase-Lansdale, P. Lindsay, Rachel A. Gordon, Jeanne Brooks-Gunn, and Pamela K., Klebanov.

 1997. "Neighborhood and Family Influences on the Intellectual and Behavioral

 Competence of Preschool and Early School-Age Children." Pp. 79-118 in *Neighborhood Poverty: Context and Consequences for Children*, edited by. J. Brooks-Gunn, G. J.

 Duncan, and J. L. Aber. New York: Russell Sage.
- Clarke, Marguerite, Arnold Shore, Kathleen Rhoades, Lisa Abrams, Jing Miao, and Jie Li. 2003.

 Perceived Effects of State-Mandated Testing Programs on Teaching and Learning:

 Findings from Interviews with Educators in Low-, Medium-, and High Stakes States.

 Massachusetts: National Board on Educational Testing and Public Policy.
- Coleman, James S., Ernest Q. Campbell, Carol J. Hobson, James McPartland, Alexander M. Mood, Frederic D. Weinfeld, and Robert L. York. 1966. *Equality of Opportunity*. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- Cullen, Julie Berry, and Randall Reback. 2006. "Tinkering Toward Accolades: School Gaming Under a Performance Accountability System." *NBER Working Paper 12286*. Retrieved June 8, 2015 (http://www.nber.org/papers/w12286).
- David, Miriam, Ann West, and Jane Ribbens. 1994. *Mother's Intuition? Choosing Secondary Schools*. London: The Falmer Press.
- Debray, Elizabeth, Gail Parson, and Salvador Avila. 2003. "Internal Alignment and External Pressure: High School Responses in Four State Contexts." Pp. 54–85 in *The New*

- Accountability: High Schools and Sigh-Stakes Testing, edited by M. Carnoy, R. Elmore, and L. S. Siskin. New York: Routledge.
- Downey, Douglas B., Paul T. von Hippel, and Melanie Hughes. 2008. "Are 'Failing' Schools Really Failing? Using Seasonal Comparison to Evaluate School Effectiveness."

 Sociology of Education 81(3):242-270.
- Downey, Douglas B., Paul T. von Hippel, and Beckett A. Broh. 2004. "Are Schools the Great Equalizer? Cognitive Inequality during the Summer Months and the School Year."

 American Sociological Review 69(5):613-635.
- Duncan, Greg J., Jeanne Brooks-Gunn, and Pamela Klebanov. 1994. "Economic Deprivation and Early Childhood Development." *Child Development* 65(2):296-318.
- Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) of 1965, Public Law 89-10, Status at Large 79, (1965). Retrieved June 11, 2015 (http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/STATUTE-79/pdf/STATUTE-79-Pg27.pdf).
- Entwisle, D.R., & Alexander, K.L. 1992. "Summer Setback: Race, Poverty, School Composition and Math Achievement in the First Two Years of School." *American Sociological Review* 57(1):72-84.
- Fan, Xitao, and Michael Chen. 2001. "Parental Involvement and Students' Academic Achievement: A Meta-Analysis." *Educational Psychology Review* 13(1):1-22.
- Figlio, David N. 2005. "Testing, Crime and Punishment." *Journal of Public Economics* 90(2006):837-851.
- Figlio, David N., and Lawrence S. Getzler. 2002. "Accountability, Ability, and Disability: Gaming the System." *NBER Working Paper 9307*. Retrieved June 8, 2015 (http://www.nber.org/papers/w9307).

- Fitz-Gibbon, Carol Taylor. 1996. *Monitoring education: Indicators, quality, and effectiveness*. London: Cassell.
- Fryer, Roland G., and Steven D. Levitt. 2004. "The Causes and Consequences of Distinctively Black Names." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 119(3):767-805.
- Fuller, Bruce F. and Richard F. Elmore. 1996. *Who Chooses? Who Loses? Culture, Institutions and the Unequal Effects of School Choice*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Gayler, K. 2005. *How Have High School Exit Exams Changed Our Schools? Some Perspectives*from Virginia and Maryland. Washington DC: Center of Education Policy. Retrieved

 June 8, 2015 (http://www.cep-dc.org/displayDocument.cfm?DocumentID=215).
- Gillborn, David and Deborah Youdell. 2000. *Rationing Education: Policy, Practice, Reform, and Equity*. London: McGraw-Hill International.
- Goldring, Ellen B. and Kristie J. R. Phillips. 2008. "Parent Preference and Parent Choices: The Public-Private Decision about School Choice." *Journal of Education Policy* 23(3):209-230.
- Greene, Jay P., Marcus A. Winters, and Greg Forster. 2003. *Testing High Stakes Tests: Can We Believe the Results of Accountability Tests?*. New York: Center for Civic Innovation.
- Hanushek, Eric A, John F. Kain, and Steven G. Rivkin. 2002. "Why Public Schools Lose Teachers." *Journal of Human Resources* 39(2):326-354.
- Hanushek, Eric a., John F. Kain, and Steven G. Rivkin. 2004. "The Revolving Door." *Education Next* 4(1):76-82.
- Harris, Douglas N., and Matthew F. Larsen. 2015. What Schools Do Families Want (and Why)?

 School Demand and Information Before and After the New Orleans Post-Katrina School

 Reforms. New Orleans, LA: The Education Research Alliance for New Orleans.

- Hastings, Justine S., Thomas J. Kane, and Douglas O. Staiger. 2005. "Parental Preferences and School Competition: Evidence from a Public School Choice Program." *NBER Working Paper 11805*. Retrieved June 9, 2015 (http://www.nber.org/papers/w11805).
- Heck, Ronald H., Terry J. Larsen, and George A. Marcoulides. 1990. "Instructional Leadership and School Achievement: Validation of a Causal Model." *Educational Administration Quarterly* 26(2):94-125.
- Hill, Paul T., and Robin J. Lake. 1999. "Standards and Accountability in Washington State." *Brookings Papers on Education Policy* 5(2):199-234. Retrieved June 9, 2015

 (http://www.jstor.org/stable/20067245?seq=1#page scan tab contents).
- Hillocks, George. 2002. *The Testing Trap: How State Writing Assessments Control Learning*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Holme, Jennifer J. 2002. "Buying Homes, Buying Schools: School Choice and the Social Construction of School Quality." *Harvard Educational Review* 72(2):177-205.
- Jacob, Brian A., and Lars Lefgren. 2007. "What Do Parents Value in Education? An Empirical Investigation of Parents' Revealed Preferences for Teachers." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 122(4):1603-1637.
- Jencks, Christopher, Marshall Smith, Henry Acland, Mary J. Bane, David Cohen, Herbert Gintis, Barbara Heyns, and Stephan Michelson. 1972. *Inequality: A Reassessment of the Effect of Family and Schooling in America*. New York: Basic Books.
- Jeynes, William. 2005. "A Meta-Analysis of the Relation of Parental Involvement to Urban Elementary School Student Academic Achievement." *Urban Education* 40(3):237-269.

- Johnston, Peter. 1998. "The Consequences and the Use of Standardized Tests." Pp. 89-101 in Fragile Evidence: A Critique of Reading Assessment, edited by S. Murphy. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Johnston, Peter H., Peter Afflerbach, and Paula Weiss. 1993. "Teachers' Evaluation of The Teaching and Learning of Literacy and Literature." *Educational Assessment* 1(2):91-117.
- Johnston, Peter H., Sherry Guice, Kim Baker, Joan Malone, and Nancy Michelson. 1995.

 "Assessment of Teaching and Learning in 'Literature Based' Classrooms." *Teaching and Teacher Education* 11(4):359-371.
- Jones, Brett D., and Robert J. Egley. 2004. "Voices from the Frontlines: Teachers' Perceptions of High-Stakes Testing." *Education Policy Analysis Archives* 12(39):1–34.
- Jones, M. Gail, Brett D. Jones, and Tracy Hargrove. 2003 *The Unintended Consequences of High-Stakes Testing*. Lanham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield.
- Judge, Timothy A., Carl J. Thoresen, Joyce E. Bono, and Gregory K. Patton. 2001. "The Job Satisfaction-Job Performance Relationship: A Qualitative and Quantitative Review." *Psychological Bulletin* 127(3):376–407.
- Kimelberg, Shelley M. 2014. "Beyond Test Scores: Middle-Class Mothers, Cultural Capital, and the Evaluation of Urban Public Schools." *Sociological Perspectives* 57(2):208-228.
- Kleitz, Bretten, Gregory R. Weiher, Kent Tedin, and Richard Matland. 2000. "Choice, Charter Schools, and Household Preferences." *Social Science Quarterly* 81(3):846–54.
- Kohen, Dafna E., Jeanne Brooks-Gunn, Tama Leventhal, and Clyde Hertzman. 2002. "Neighborhood Income and Physical and Social Disorder in Canada: Associations with Young Children's Competencies." *Child Development* 73(6):1844-1860.

- Kolb, David A., Richard E. Boyatzis, and Charalampos Mainemelis. 2000. "Experiential Learning Theory: Previous Research and New Directions." Pp. 193-210 in *Perspectives on Thinking, Learning, and Cognitive Style*, edited by R. J. Sternberg, and L. Zhang. Mahwah. NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. Retrieved June 9, 2015. (http://www.d.umn.edu/~kgilbert/educ5165-731/Readings/experiential-learning-theory.pdf).
- Kornhaber, M. L., and Gary Orfield. 2001. "High-Stakes Testing Policies: Examining their Assumptions and Consequences." Pp. 1-18 in *Raising Standards or Raising Barriers?: Inequality and High-Stakes Testing in Public Education*, edited by *G*. Orfield, and M. L. Kornhaber. New York: The Century Foundation Press.
- Kozol, Jonathan. 1991. Savage Inequalities: Children in America's Schools. New York: Crown Publishers.
- Kozol, Jonathan. 2005. *The Shame of the Nation: The Restoration of Apartheid Schooling in America*. New York: Crown Publishers.
- Ladd, Helen F., and Randall P. Walsh. 2002. "Implementing Value-Added Measures of School Effectiveness: Getting the Incentives Right." *Economics of Education Review* 21(1):1–17.
- Lareau, Annette. 1987. "Social Class Differences in Family-School Relationships: The Importance of Cultural Capital." *Sociology of Education* 60(2):73–85.
- Lareau, Annette. 2011. *Unequal Childhoods: Class, Race, and Family Life*. Berkeley, CA: Univiversity of California Press.

- Lee, Valerie E., Robert G. Croninger, and Julia B. Smith. 1996. "Equity and Choice in Detroit."

 Pp. 70–94 in *Who chooses? Who Loses? Culture, Institutions and the Unequal Effects of School Choice*, edited by B. F. Fuller and R. Elmore. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Lieberson, Stanley. 1984. "What's in a Name?... Some Sociolinguistic Possibilities." International Journal of the Sociology of Language 1984(45):77–87.
- Lieberson, Stanley, and Kelly S. Mikelson. 1995. "Distinctive African American Names: An Experimental, Historical, and Linguistic Analysis of Innovation." *American Sociological Review* 60(6):928-946.
- Liu, Yujia, and David B. Grusky. 2014. "The Winners of the Third Industrial Revolution." Pp. 113-126 in *Social Stratification: Class, Race, and Gender in Sociological Perspective*, edited by D. B. Grusky. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Madaus, George F., and Marguerite Clarke. 2001. "The Adverse Impact of High-Stakes Testing on Minority Students: Evidence From One Hundred Years of Test Data." Pp. 85-106 in *Raising Standards or Raising Barriers?: Inequality and High-Stakes Testing in Public Education*, edited by G. Orfield, and M.L. Kornhaber. New York: Century Foundation Press.
- Martinez, Valerie J., Kenneth Godwin, and Frank R. Kemerer. 1996. Public School Choice in San Antonio: *Who Chooses and with What Effects?* New York: Teachers College Press.
- Martinez, Valerie J., Kenneth Godwin, and Frank R. Kemerer. 1993. *Who Chooses and Why? Baseline Demographic Data Report, San Antonio School Choice Project*. Denton: Center for the Study of Education Reform.
- Milanowski, A. T., S. M. Kimball, and A. Odden. 2005. "Teacher Accountability Measures and Links to Student Learning." Pp. 137-162 in *Measuring School Performance and*

- *Efficiency*, edited by L. Stiefel, A. E. Schwartz, R. Rubenstein, and J. Zabel. Larchmont, NY: Eye on Education.
- McNeil, Linda M. 2000. Contradictions of School Reform: Educational Costs of Standardized Testing. New York: Routledge.
- McNeil, Linda M. 2005. "Faking Equity: High-Stakes Testing and the Education of Latino Youth." Pp. 57-112 in *Leaving Children Behind: How 'Texas-Style' Accountability Fails Latino Youth*, edited by A. Valenzuela. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- McNeil, Linda M., and Angela Valenzuela. 2001. "The Harmful Impact of the TAAS System of Testing in Texas: Beneath the Accountability Rhetoric." Pp. 127-150 in *Raising Standards or Raising Barriers?: Inequality and High-Stakes Testing in Public Education*, edited by G. Orfield, and M.L. Kornhaber. New York: Century Foundation Press.
- National Commission on Excellence in Education. 1983. *A nation at risk: The imperative for educational reform*. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office. Retrieved June 9, 2015 (http://www2.ed.gov/pubs/NatAtRisk/index.html).
- National Center for Education Statistics. 2015. "How Many Public Schools in the United States

 Have Closed?" Retrieved June 9, 2015

 (https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=619).
- Nichols, Sharon L., and David C. Berliner. 2007. *Collateral Damage: How High-Stakes Testing Corrupts America's Schools*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.
- Nichols, Sharon L., Gene V. Glass, and David C. Berliner. 2005. *High-stakes testing and student achievement: Problems for the No Child Left Behind Act.* Tempe, AZ: Education Policy Studies Laboratory. Retrived June 9, 2015

 (http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED531184.pdf).

- No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act of 2001, Public Law 107-110, Status at Large 115, *Stat* 1425 (2001). Retrieved June 11, 2015 (http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/esea02/index.html).
- Orfield, Gary, and Johanna Wald. 2000. "Testing, Testing." *The Nation*, June 5, pp.38–40.
- Orel, Steve. 2003. "Left Behind in Bermingham: 522 Pushed-Out Students," Pp. 1-14 in *Silent No More: Voices of Courage in American Schools*, edited by R. C. Lent, and G. Pipkin. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Public Policy Forum. 1998. "School Choice Accountability." Milwaukee, WI: Public Policy Forum.
- Paris, Scott G., and Tim Urdan. 2000. "Policies and Practices of High-Stakes Testing That Influence Teachers and Schools." *Issues in Education* 6(1/2):83-108.
- Pedulla, Joseph J., Lisa M. Abrams, George F. Madaus, Michael K. Russel, and Miguel A.

 Ramos. 2003. Perceived Effects of State-Mandated Testing Programs on Teaching and

 Learning: Findings from a National Survey of Teachers. Chestnut Hill, MA: National

 Board on Educational Testing and Public Policy.
- Phillips, Kristie J. R. 2010. "What Does 'Highly Qualified' Mean for Student Achievement?

 Evaluating the Relationships between Teacher Quality Indicators and At-Risk Students'

 Mathematics and Reading Achievement Gains in First Grade." *The Elementary School Journal* 110(4):464-493.
- Phillips, Kristie J. R., Charles Hausman, and Elisabeth S. Larsen. 2011. "Does Intradistrict Transfer Make the Grade?" Pp.77-104 in *School Choice and School Improvement*, edited by M. Berends, M. Cannata, and E. B. Goldring. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.

- Rentner, Diane Stark, Caitlin Scott, Nancy Kober, Naomi Chudowsky, Victor Chudowsky, Scott Joftus, and Dalia Zabala . 2006. *From the Capital to the Classroom: Year 4 of the No Child Left Behind Act.* Washington, DC: Center on Education Policy. Retrieved June 8, 2015 (http://www.cep-dc.org/displayDocument.cfm?DocumentID=301).
- Rosenbusch, Marcia H. 2005. "The No Child Left Behind Act and Teaching and Learning Languages in U.S. Schools." *The Modern Language Journal* 89(2):250-261.
- Sammons, Pam, Peter Mortimore, and Sally Thomas. 1996. "Do Schools Perform Consistently Across Outcomes and Areas?" Pp. 3-29 in *Merging Traditions: The Future of Research on School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, edited by J. Gray, D. Reynolds, C. Fitz-Gibbon, and D. Jesson. London: Cassell.
- Sanders, William L. 1998. "Value-Added Assessment." School Administrator 55(11):24-29.
- Sanders, William L., and Sanda P. Horn. 1998. "Research Findings from the Tennessee Value-Added Assessment System (TVAAS) Database: Implications for Education Evaluation and Research." *Journal of Personnel Evaluation in Education* 12(3):247-256.
- Saporito, Salvatore, and Deenesh Sohoni. 2006. "Coloring Outside the Lines: Racial Segregation in Public Schools and Their Attendance Boundaries." *Sociology of Education* 79(2):81–105.
- Sattin-Bajaj, Carolyn. 2011. "Communication Breakdown: Informing Immigrant Families about High School Choice in New York City." Pp. 147–73 in *School Choice and School Improvement*, edited by M. Berends, M. Cannata, and E. B. Goldring. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.

- Schneider, Mark, Melissa Marschall, Paul Teske, and Christine Roch. 1998. "School Choice and Culture Wars in the Classroom: What Different Parents Seek from Education." *Social Science Quarterly* 79(3):489-501.
- Schneider, Mark, Paul Teske, and Melissa Marschall. 2000. *Choosing Schools: Consumer Choice and the Quality of American Schools*. Princeton, NJ: University Press.
- Schultz, Lyndsie M. 2014. "Inequitable Dispersion: Mapping the Distribution of Highly

 Qualified Teachers in St. Louis Metropolitan Elementary Schools." *Education Policy Analysis Archives* 22(90):1–23.
- Scott, Caitlin. 2007. What Now? Lessons from Michigan about Restructuring Schools and Next Steps Under NCLB. Washington, DC: Center on Education Policy. Retrieved June 8, 2015 (http://www.cep-dc.org/displayDocument.cfm?DocumentID=285).
- Sleeter, Christine E. 2005. *Un-Standardizing Curriculum: Multicultural Teaching in the Standards-Based Classroom*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Smith, Mary L., Carole Edelsky, Kelly Draper, Claire Rottenberg, and Meredith Cherland. 1991. *The Role of Testing in Elementary Schools*. Los Angeles, CA: The Center for Research on Evaluation. Retrieved June 9, 2015 (http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED338673.pdf).
- Smrekar, Claire. 2009. "The Social Context of Magnet Schools." Pp. 393-407 in *Handbook of Research on School Choice*, edited by M. Berends, M. G. Springer, D. Ballou, and H. J. Walberg. New York: Routledge.
- Stein, Mark L., Ellen B. Goldring, and Xiu Cravens. 2011. "Do Parents Do as They Say?" Pp. 105-123 in *School Choice and School Improvement*, edited by M. Berends, M. Cannata, and E. B. Goldring. Cambridge: Harvard Education Press.

- Stone, J. E. 1999. "Value added assessment: An accountability revolution." Pp. 239-249 in *Better Teachers, Better Schools*, edited by M. Kanstoroom, and C. E. Finn. Washington, DC:

 Thomas B. Fordham Foundation.
- U.S. Census. 2010. *Profile of General Demographic Characteristics: 2010*. Retrieved June 11, 2015 (https://www.census.gov/sdc/pam2.pdf).
- U.S. Department of Education. 2009. *Race to the Top Program: Executive Summary*Washington, DC. Retrieved June 8, 2015(http://www2.ed.gov/programs/racetothetop/executive-summary.pdf).
- Usher, Alexandra. 2011. *AYP Results for 2010-11*. Washington, DC: Center on Education Policy.

 Retrieved June 9, 2015 (http://www.cep-dc.org/displayDocument.cfm?DocumentID=386).
- Vanourek, Gregg, Bruno V. Manno, and Chester E. Finn. 1998. "Charter Schools as Seen by Students, Teachers and Parents." Pp. 187-211 in *Learning from School Choice*, edited by P. E. Peterson, and B. C. Hassel. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- von Hippel, Paul T. 2009. "Achievement, Learning, and Seasonal Impact as Measures of School Effectiveness: It's Better to be Valid than Reliable." *School Effectiveness and School Improvement* 20(2):187-213.
- Weiher, Gregory R., and Kent L. Tedin. 2002. "Does Choice Lead to Racially Distinctive Schools? Charter Schools and Household Preferences." *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management* 21(1):79–92.
- Wells, Amy S. 1991. "The Sociology of School Choice: A Study of Black Students'

 Participation in a Voluntary Transfer Plan." PhD dissertation, Department of Sociology of Education, Columbia University.

- Wells, Amy S. 1996. "African-American Students' View of School Choice." Pp. 25–49 in *Who Chooses? Who Loses? Culture, Institutions and the Unequal Effects of School Choice*, edited by B. F. Fuller and R. Elmore. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Willms, J. Douglas. 1992. *Monitoring School Performance: A Guide for Educators*. London: Falmer Press.

TABLES

Table 1: School Characteristics

School	# Parents sampled	% Low income	% Minority	% English learners	School Grade
Birch Elementary	7	96	91	63	D
Elm Elementary	8	94	89	63	C
Redwood Elementary	7	86	85	51	C
Maple Elementary	7	95	87	61	C
Cedar Elementary	7	89	81	47	C
Ash Elementary	9	96	89	60	F
Hawthorn Elementary	8	82	65	32	C
Pine Elementary	7	92	86	57	F
Oak Elementary	7	90	82	53	C
Walnut Elementary	5	86	60	27	В
Aspen Charter	20	65	88	36	F
Sample Avg.	8	84	81	54	D+
North Side Avg.	NA	28	26	11	B+
District Avg.	NA	62	58	50	C

Note 1: School grades represent 2013-2014 school year and based on percentage of students meeting state standards.

Table 2: Sample Characteristics

Characteristics	Number of Respondents
Sex of Respondents	
Male	32
Female	85
Marital Status	
Married/Cohabitating	73
Divorced	2
Single	17
Race/Ethnicity	
White	29
Hispanic	32
Polynesian	30
Black	1
School type	
Neighborhood school	60
Charter	20
Non-Neighborhood school	12
Nativity	
Born outside US	48
US born	44
Education	
Graduate degree	6
Bachelor	7
Some college	46
High School diploma	19
Less Than High School	14

Note 1: Based on household characteristics, our sample has 92 households with 117 respondents.

Note 2: Education is based on highest education completed in the household.

APPENDIX A

Note to interviewer:

- This interview guide is meant to be flexible. You should try to address all of the main questions (in bold) and use follow-up questions as necessary (in bullets). You do not necessarily need to ask the questions in the listed order, and you should feel free to ask additional questions that are relevant to the main issues raised here. This means that you should not expect any two interviews to look exactly the same, and you should feel comfortable following leads that move the interview in a productive direction.
- At the start of the interview, you must remember to promise confidentiality. Tell the interviewee(s) that we will never share their responses with anyone outside of the study team.
- 1. Get to know and build relationship with interviewee

[Note: Allow the interviewee to locate him/herself in relation to the interviewers. If possible, make connections, build a relationship.]

- Where are you from?
- Tell me about your family
 - o How many kids do you have?
- We are interested in multiracial families. Is your family multiracial?
 - o If so what races are within your family?
- Follow up question if family is multiracial:
- Given that your family is multiracial, when you enrolled your child in the school and they asked the race of your child what race did you identify your child as?
- Who lives here with you? (Grandparents? Siblings? Etc.)
- Did you grow up around here?
- Where did you go to school?
- o How much school did you do?
- o And your spouse?
- Are you working now? What do you do?
- o And your spouse?
- [Tell a little about yourself]
- 2. Can you get us started by telling us about your own experience with school?

[Note: Assume that every interviewee has positive and negative experiences, and find out what they are.]

- What was school like for you?
- What did you like most about school?
- What did you like least about school?
- When you were young, what did you think school was for?
- What do you feel like you got out of school?
- Why did you stop/go on?

- How similar were your feelings about [elementary school, middle school, high school—whichever they haven't yet addressed]?
- 3. Which adult in your life would you say was most involved in making decisions related to your education when you were young?

[Note: We simply want to find out who was most influential—a parent, grandparent, aunt, etc. The next bold question should focus on this person.]

- For example, if someone at the school needed to talk to an adult about you, who would have been the best person to call?
- Or, who helped you with homework?
- 4. How was [the adult mentioned in #3] involved in your schooling?

[Note: Help the interviewee talk about the nature of this person's involvement in the interviewees' schooling. You should be referring here to the person identified in the prior question. We especially want to understand whether their support was at the school and/or at home, including what this support looked like (if there was support).]

- Were they involved at your school(s)? How?
- How did they support your learning/education at home?
- 5. Most parents want to send their children to a good school. What do you think a good school is?
 - In general, what would you want your child to get from education?
 - [If they have older children] Have any of these things changed from what you hoped for your older children?
- 6. Do you have children who are in school this year? What grades are they in, and where do they go to school?

[Note: This is only important to ask if it didn't come up earlier]

7. To make things easier, for our next questions think about [kindergartener] and her/his school. Can you talk to me a bit about why you decided to send [child] to [name of school]?

[Note: We're most interested in their experiences related to their kindergartener. Try to focus this and the remaining questions on that child.]

- Why did you choose it?
- What kinds of things did you consider?
- 8. What did you want [name of child] to get from this school?
- 9. Where did you get your information about the school?

- Did you talk to anyone? Who?
- Did you get information from anywhere else?
- 10. Did you rely on any of these sources (just mentioned in question 9) more than others? Which ones and why?

[Note: The idea here is to encourage the interviewee to talk about whether and why they trust some sources more than others. The focus is on the sources, not necessarily the information they collected from these sources. We'll get to the information in the next question.]

11. Regardless of the source, what information was most important in making your decision? Why?

12. Notecards

We have here 16 note cards with characteristics of schools that many parents think are important. We want you to put them into two piles—one for characteristics that were more important when making a schooling decision for [child], and one for characteristics that were less important when making the decision.

I'm going to hand you these cards, one at a time. I'll say the name of the card out loud so that we know what we're talking about when we go back and listen to the recording.

As I hand you the card, would you just place it in one of the piles and talk about why you are placing it there rather than in the other pile?

[Note: Give the cards one at a time. Read each card as you hand it to the interviewee so that it can be recorded. Encourage the interviewee to talk about the decision to put the card where s/he did. After all of the cards are sorted, continue:]

Now, we'd like you to pick two or three of the cards from the "more important" pile that you see as the most important. Can you talk to us about those?

[Note: Collect these cards in a way that will keep the piles separate so that you can record which cards went in which pile when the interview is completed.]

[Here is a list of the cards:]

- Academic reputation of the school
- Test scores
- Ouality of teachers
- Focus or theme of the school
- Classes better matched to student abilities
- Availability of specialized programs (ESL, gifted/talented, arts, music, etc.)
- Discipline at the school
- Emphasis on Polynesian culture
- Child's family members or friends attended
- Background characteristics of other students at the school (racial mix, SES, etc.)

- Close to home or work
- Transportation to or from school
- Safety
- Condition of the school building
- Class size
- Resources at the school (computers, libraries, availability of textbooks and workbooks, school supplies, etc.)

13. Wrap up

After the interview

Immediately after the interview, perhaps on the ride home, turn on your recorder and respond to the questions below as best you can. (Create a new audio file and be careful not to delete the interview file.)

- Who was present during the interview? Be sure to differentiate between who was answering questions and who was present but not answering the questions.
- What is the interviewee's gender?
- What is the interviewee's career (if any)? Note also if the interviewee is a student, stays home by choice, is unemployed, etc.
- How old was the interviewee(s)? Make an estimate if you are not sure.
- Who lives at the residence where you conducted the interview, and what are their relationships to each other? Is it a two-parent (male and female) household with kids? Does a grandmother or grandfather live in the home? Etc.
- How well do you think the family is doing financially? Look for signifiers—size of house and yard, number and type of car(s), style and quality of furnishings (vinyl vs. tile floors, laminate vs. granite counters, artworks, etc.)
- Dictate any field notes based on your visit. Describe how the interview went, how the interviewee received you, any concerns that arose, and the like.